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UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 2, RESUMED


Greg Tetreault, Sworn Previously

Wes Armstrong, Sworn Previously


Jeff Hodgins, Sworn Previously


MS. TAYLOR:  Please be seated.  So, good morning.  We are reconvened to hear the second day of EB-2011-0025.


Mr. Crawford, before we begin the cross of the second panel, who I remind you are still under oath, Staff does have a couple of questions regarding the late payment penalty wording.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MS. TAYLOR:  And we'd like to lead off with those questions by Staff, if we may, and then we'll continue with cross bore, please.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  That's certainly acceptable.  Perhaps just by way of preliminary matter, we gave an undertaking yesterday, J1.1, to advise whether or not Union has a record of asset optimization transactions dating back to January 1, 2011, and I can advise that Union does have such a record.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:


MS. SEBALJ:  So my questions with respect to the late payment penalty are very few, and I'm asking Mr. Gluck if he can provide two documents to the Panel, and I'll provide them to Mr. Smith and the witness panel.


And so you'll see that one of the documents, entitled "Whitby Hydro Electric Company Tariff Rates and Charges", which is of course their rate schedule, and the other is Toronto Hydro, someone's, and I won't say whose, Toronto Hydro electricity bill.


And you'll note -- I suppose, unless anyone objects, can we mark these as an exhibit?


MR. SMITH:  No objection.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.


MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  So they will be -- we'll mark the Whitby Hydro Electric Company rate schedule as K2.1 and the Toronto Hydro bill as K2.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  WHITBY HYDRO ELECTRIC COMPANY RATE SCHEDULE
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  TORONTO HYDRO BILL

MS. SEBALJ:  And so if I can just take you down under "non-payment of account" on the rate schedule, K2.1, you'll note immediately below the "non-payment of account" category there is late payment per month and late payment per annum, 1.5 percent per month and 19.56 percent per annum.


And then on the Toronto Hydro bill, which is K2.2, in the micro print underneath the box on the right-hand side, so the box that has "statement date", "amount due", "due date", "amount paid", there is some small print there which says:

"Interest will be charged on any amount not received by the due date at the rate of 1.5 percent compounded monthly..."


And then in brackets:

"(19.56 percent per annum from the due date until the receipt of such amount and all accrued interest)."


And my question is whether there is any reason that Union sees that it can't be presented in this way for Union's bills and for Union's rate schedule.


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  The language in both exhibits is quite similar to what Union currently has on its rate schedules.  However, we do feel that the 19.56 reference in our schedules is a little bit misleading, in the sense that it makes an assumption as to when a customer will actually pay their bill.


And that's why we feel that showing the nominal rate and referencing the fact that there is monthly compounding is a more accurate reflection of how we apply late payment fees.


MS. SEBALJ:  And so the 19.56 percent, then, what you're suggesting is that's the sort of worst-case scenario?  That's if --


MR. TETREAULT:  No, I'm not necessarily suggesting it's worst case.  I'm just suggesting that somebody -- a customer's actual annual effective rate would be different based on whether they paid their bill one day late versus ten days late versus 20.  So in that sense, the 19.56 effective rate is somewhat misleading, in Union's view.


MS. SEBALJ:  And less misleading than the rate you're suggesting, because you're suggesting your rate is nominal and that the customer can do the calculation based on how late they are?  Is that --


MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know that we're suggesting that the customer could do the calculation, necessarily.  What we're suggesting is that is a more accurate reflection of how we would apply late payment fees and doesn't necessarily make an assumption as to when a customer may actually pay.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions.


MS. HARE:  Sorry, Mr. Tetreault, I don't understand what you just said.  If a customer is one day late or 20 days late, they still pay the monthly 1-1/2 percent, don't they?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MS. HARE:  Yes.  Fine.


MR. TETREAULT:  The compounding, though, the annual effective rate of that payment pattern may be different, though, than the annual effective rate of 19.56 that's currently on our rate schedules, but we are applying the 1.5 percent per month interest rate.


MS. TAYLOR:  I have one follow-up question to that.


The 19 -- the effective annual interest rate, you're saying it makes certain assumptions.  What are those assumptions about timing of payment?


MR. SMITH:  I can answer the question.


MR. KITCHEN:  Or can I?


MS. TAYLOR:  That would be unusual, but...


MR. TETREAULT:  And I may need them to.  I'm not sure I have that information in front of me.


MR. SMITH:  We can provide an undertaking, but, essentially, in answer to the question from the Panel, if you do the math, the general assumption appears to be that payment is around the 28th day after the bill is rendered, which leads to 19.55 percent as the annual effective rate.


Depending upon when the customer pays, the rate can vary between zero and as high as 32 down to as low as 17.  To preview the argument-in-chief, the interest rate -- the Interest Act requires that you display the nominal interest rate, and the confusion relates, when you show a compounding rate, whether or not that's in fact the rate.


So the question is:  Do you show simply the nominal amount and indicate that you intend to compound, or do you do a calculation?  And clearly the practice has been, including Union's, to show an effective rate of 19.56.


The intention is to move to something that doesn't do that.


MS. TAYLOR:  So let me ask my next question back to the panel again.


Do you think that the average consumer can compound the 18 percent nominal rate to calculate?  So it's a question that tries to establish reasonableness.  Is it reasonable to assume that a customer has the financial sophistication to do the math, or will the 9.53 be a reasonable proxy for a bill that's paid on the 28th day or approximately one month after it was deemed to be paid?


MR. TETREAULT:  I'm not sure that the average consumer necessarily has the sophistication to calculate the compounding, and really what we're trying to move towards on the rate schedules and the bills is language that doesn't necessarily mislead in any way and suggest that a customer who is applied a late payment fee will always pay an annual effective rate of the 19.56.


And that's really the rationale for moving to what we think is simpler and more accurate language.


MS. TAYLOR:  Do you have any other questions?


MS. HARE:  I do.  Why are you doing this?  Have you had complaints from customers that they don't understand what the previous rate is?  I'm just thinking about my other bills, you know, Visa, Amex.  They always show an annual rate, not a monthly rate.


So what prompted you to make the change to a monthly?


MR. TETREAULT:  To answer your original question, I'm not sure that we've had customer complaints, to my knowledge.  I think internally we've reviewed the language on the rate schedules and the bills, and we're somewhat uncomfortable with the annual effective rate that's stated on the rate schedules and customer bills, and felt that referencing the annual nominal rate and the fact that that interest rate will be -- the monthly interest rate will be compounded on a monthly basis would be better language, less misleading than what is currently both on bills and rate schedules.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Can I just ask one question?  Is there some sort of class action risk that is prompting this?


MR. TETREAULT:  Not to my knowledge.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MS. TAYLOR:  Dr. Higgin?
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Can you confirm that in the new GDAR that was issued in November 2011, there was allowance for the utility to calculate how the date of the bill was rendered, meaning how many days was the basis of late payment?

And there was a change made to that, I believe, to that provision.  So my understanding is that Enbridge is using 17 plus three as the date from which it's calculated, and you are using 20, which is -- I believe that your new proposal will be 20, from the IR that you gave me; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  We have moved to 20 days effective January 2012, as a result of the decisions that were made in the customer service proceeding as part of the GDAR.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the question, then, is:  How does that affect the calculation of the annual effective interest rate with that change?  I think is -- and also may affect the 18 percent simple interest that you're proposing.  Have you taken that into account?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't believe there is any impact on the annual nominal rate.  It is still applied as the 1.5 percent per month times 12 months.

And our practice of how we apply late payment fees has not changed in terms of the calculation, other than recognizing that customers now have 20 days to pay their bill in full, as opposed to the prior language, which spoke to 16 days.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Let me just ask again what Ms. Sebalj asked you, so it's very clear for me.

Do you have any problem with showing it both ways, as the electric distributors do?  Both in the rate schedule and on the bill?

MR. TETREAULT:  As I read this language, it is most similar to the language we have currently on both rate schedules and customer bills.

And I think our position remains unchanged in the sense that we feel showing the annual nominal rate and the fact than the monthly interest rate associated with that will be compounded on a monthly basis is more accurate than what we currently have, which, as I said, is quite similar to what -- the two exhibits we have in front of us.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  I don't believe there are any additional questions on that, so let's continued with the cross on the cross bore issue.

Mr. Brett, is there an order?  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Brett can lead off and we can go in the same order, but in discussion with Dr. Higgin yesterday, he is going to precede me, and then I will be last, I guess, at this point.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Begin, Mr. Brett.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Panel.

Good morning, gentlemen.  Could you tell me, is Union a member of the American Gas Association?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.  Yes, we are.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I take it your parent company is, as well?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Do you have any sister gas distribution utilities in your group, in the Spectra group, or are you the only distributor in that group, gas distributor?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I believe we're the only gas distributor.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Back in 2004, the American Gas Association published a document entitled "Engineering Technical Note: Directional Drilling Damage Prevention Guidelines for the Natural Gas Industry."

That document -- let me just give you the title again:  "Engineering Technical Note: Directional Drilling Damage Prevention Guidelines for the Natural Gas Industry."  Now, I'll identify the document in a sec, but in that document they do discuss the issue of cross bore with sewer laterals.

I don't know that you need to really turn this document up.  I'm not altogether certain it's an exhibit in this case.  It is an exhibit in the Union rates case in the cross bore section of their evidence, and I will give you the -- I've give you the reference for that, just if it becomes an issue.

It's Exhibit I.  This is from the Enbridge (sic) rates case for 2012, which is EB-2011-0277, EB-2011-0277.  And in that case, it's Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 4 -- Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 4.  And it's an attachment, attachment B.

MR. SMITH:  If I may, members of the Panel, I appreciate this may be in evidence in an Enbridge proceeding, which I understand is going -- hasn't been heard and is going to be heard at some point in the future.  But if my friend intends to ask questions in respect of the document or put suggestions to the witness as to the content of the document, I think in fairness to the witnesses they should be entitled to see the document.

MR. BRETT:  Actually, I'm not going to put questions on the document, on the content of the document.

The only thing I'm going ask the witness, based on the presence of the fact that this document exists and was written 10 years ago or whenever, 15 years ago, is that this issue of cross bore affecting -- between gas and sewer laterals has been around for quite some time now, is that not true?

MR. SMITH:  Well, with respect, that's exactly the problem with it.  I mean, my friend wishes to put to the witnesses a conclusion from the document.

He has said:  Based on this document, which I am representing says the following, you will agree with me that X.

And in my submission, if my friend wants to put that, based upon a document, he has an obligation to put it to the witnesses.

MS. HARE:  Let me interrupt for a second on something somewhat mundane, but we're going to be confused when we read the transcripts.

On line 8 -- I'm just following along -- Mr. Brett, I think you misspoke.  The transcript -- you said it's an exhibit with the Union rates case.  I think you meant to say in the Enbridge rates case.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  It may be an exhibit in this case, as well.  I'm not certain.

MS. HARE:  Yes, but you're specifically referring to something in the Enbridge case.

MR. BRETT:  This is in my cross-examination?

MS. HARE:  Yes.  I think you just misspoke.  And I just want the transcript corrected.  Otherwise, we're going to read it later and get ourselves confused, or at least I'll get myself confused.

MR. BRETT:  Well, really, I'm not... I don't agree with my...

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Brett, I think the Panel is of the view that if you're going to bring this document into this proceeding, it does need to be on the record.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Well, I have it here.  I have a copy of it and we could make it an exhibit.  That's not a problem.

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, I think that would be appropriate.

MS. SEBALJ:  I can give it an exhibit number, but I'm just wondering -- we need to have copies for the witnesses to...

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, we do.

MR. BRETT:  Well, I could show this copy to the -- I'm prepared to give my copy here to the witness.

What I'm really talking about is simply the existence of this document.  I'm not really trying to make a point -- I think my colleague is unfair here.  I'm not trying to make a point about the content of this document.  I'm just saying that a document exists with this title, and here it is.  That's all I'm doing.

MS. TAYLOR:  And I think the Panel are of the view that you're asking us to draw a conclusion about -- there's certainly a line of thought in the conclusion that follows the presentation of this document with a date that is 10 years old.

So I think it would be appropriate to have it introduced into the record.  If you wish to examine the panel or make any other remarks related to that document, they would need 10 or 15 minutes to review the document, and the Panel would be happy to take a break for them to do that at this point.  If it's necessary --


MR. BRETT:  Well, I think that --


MS. TAYLOR:  Or perhaps we can delay --


MR. BRETT:  I could do it at the end or after the break or something of that sort.  I can give it to them now, and perhaps at the end of -- perhaps later in the morning, I could ask them about it.  I only have one question about it.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  So what we will do is we will get copies made at the break.  The panel can consider it.  And then you can resume your question after the break, before the next party at that point crosses the panel.

MR. BRETT:  Mm-hmm.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Now, my second question is quite a different one, and that is:  Do you know -- and you may not know, but do you know whether municipalities in Ontario or the Province of Ontario is in a position where they can insist that drainage, sewer clearance companies, if you like, for want of a better word, the people that are called upon to clear plugged sewers, are required to -- are required to take certain steps when they do this sewer cleaning?

Are there regulations, do you know, that directly affect -- well, not whether there are regulations.  One way or the other, are they required to do this in a certain manner, or are the activities of these drainage companies essentially -- they decide on their own how do this?

MR. HODGINS:  We're not aware of a standard across the province.  I guess as part of our program, communications with municipalities, we have found that municipalities do things differently, depending on the municipality, related to their sewer systems.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, thank you.  And does that, in your view, call into question, in some sense, the overall effectiveness of the program?  Not of your program, but of the effort to ensure that these incidents - explosion and other kinds of incidents that have happened in the past with respect to cross bores - will continue or will be able to be eliminated?

MR. HODGINS:  I would say there's an education process that we have started at Union Gas with municipalities and the industry, and that will take time to go through.  This is similar to our "Call Before You Dig" program.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And when did that "Call Before You Dig" program start up?  How long has that been in effect?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  You know, to my knowledge it's had various forms through the years, but I have to think back to the early eighties.  There was a system, you know, an ad hoc system in place, I guess.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, just -- the rest of my questions will basically be based on your evidence, your evidence filed, prefiled evidence, at Exhibit A, tab 1, page 8.

And as I understand said what you've said in there, you started your own program in 2010, and you expect it to reach full implementation by the end of 2011.

I'm reading here from page 8.  I'll give you a chance, the time to turn this up.  Do you have this, page 8 of 20?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  At the bottom, under the title "Union Gas Cross Bore Safety Program", you state -- in those five lines there, you sort of summarize the status of your program.

Now, yesterday you handed out a description of the program which suggested that that paragraph in your evidence, which I take it was written in about August/September of 2011, remained accurate, except for the fact that you had one region of the province that you didn't yet have full -- the program was not yet fully implemented, because you couldn't get a contractor, a qualified contractor, but that you expected that you now had one and you expected that the program would be fully implemented in the eastern zone by the end of the first quarter of 2012.

So with that qualification, is that an accurate assessment of where your program stands?  In other words, it's up and running across the province, except to the extent I've just described?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes, it's up and running across the province, except in the Eastern District, where we're in contract negotiations with a vendor.

MR. BRETT:  And when would you expect it to be up and running in the Eastern District?

MR. HODGINS:  My hopes would be within the next month.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  That's fair enough.  I just wanted some general sense.

Now, as far as putting together the program, you mentioned, I think, again, in the same four or five lines that at page 8, that you replied on the Canadian Gas Association's task team report, and that was published in August of 2010; right?

MR. HODGINS:  I believe that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And you were a member of that task team, or Union was a member?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes, Union was a member.  I was a member at the very end, and then I had -- a gentleman preceded me on that team.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And was there a person from Union there at the beginning?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Who was that?

MR. HODGINS:  It was a colleague of mine.

MR. BRETT:  And you also said you discussed the program with Enbridge -- you had some discussions with Enbridge.  They were another source of information for you in developing a program; is that right?

MR. HODGINS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And Enbridge had started earlier to develop a program.  As you recall, they started, as I understand it, in 2009 developing a program.  So they would have had some experience with the program and one of the reasons why it would have made sense for you to consult with them?

MR. HODGINS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And is your program, the program that you developed, similar -- let's say is it pretty much -- is it very similar to Enbridge's program in all material respects?

MR. HODGINS:  I would say, yes, it's very similar to Enbridge's program.

MR. BRETT:  And did you have other -- any other -- you talked about relying on discussions and best practices.  Any other sources that you used to develop your program?

MR. HODGINS:  On that task team, besides Enbridge was two other Canadian Gas Association utilities.  So GazMét and Terasen Gas.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. HODGINS:  Who both were developing programs as that paper was being written.  They were at the same stage as Union Gas.

MR. BRETT:  And what about the US utilities?  Any discussion with them through your parent company or through the Spectra network or...

MR. HODGINS:  Not directly, no.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. BRETT:  Now, the AGA I think is someone mentioned yesterday -- well, I think, no.  The AGA, I think, had a conference in -- let me re-start that.

In the Canadian Gas Association white paper at page 4, they mention that the AGA had a conference on the cross bore issue in February of 2008.  It was called something like:  Managing the threat of sewer facilities on trenchless installations.  I guess that should be:  The threat on sewer facilities of trenchless installations.

Did you attend that conference?

MR. HODGINS:  I did not.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Are you members of the Cross Bore Safety Association?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes, we are.

MR. BRETT:  And you joined in 2011?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  And the association was founded in 2007; correct?

MR. HODGINS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  You may have mentioned this already, but you began to dig into this issue of cross bore really about the same time as the white paper -- as the CGA's task force got underway; is that sort of the timing?  Is that when you started your work?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes, that's when we really started to look at the issue.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, you're aware, I take it, that Union -- sorry, that Enbridge had applied -- well, first of all, as we discussed a moment ago, Enbridge started their work in this area in 2009.  You mentioned that.

Now, you're aware that Enbridge applied in their rates case, their 2010 rate case, which is EB-2009-0172 -- that Enbridge applied in that case -- that was filed in September of 2009, and they applied in that case for cross bore treatment for their program -- sorry, for Z-factor treatment for their cross bore program.

Are you aware of that?

MR. HODGINS:  I am not aware of that.

MR. BRETT:  Are you aware of it, Mr. Armstrong?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I was not aware of the time line.

MR. BRETT:  Pardon?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I was not aware of that date in the Z-factor application.

MR. BRETT:  Would you take that, subject to check, that they did apply?  And in that case, would you also take, subject to check, that there was a Settlement Conference that settled the issues in that case, and that the settlement document was filed with the Board on this -- on the March 2nd of 2010.  And in that settlement conference, Consumers -- Enbridge agreed to withdraw -- to withdraw the request for cross bore treatment?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I just -- I'm sure my friend is not intending to lead evidence with respect to settlement discussions that took place during an Enbridge --


MR. BRETT:  This was in the settlement case itself.  It was in the text of the settlement case.  There's no discussion from the Settlement Conference.  It's in the text.

If my friend would listen carefully to what I'm saying and afford me some degree of professional courtesy, he would understand that I would never cite confidential discussions.

It was in the text, and the text of the Settlement Conference said that Enbridge, as part of an overall settlement, withdrew its request for cross bore treatment of the matter.

Now, I'm in your hands, but to me it's -- this is pro forma.

MS. TAYLOR:  I think that's fine, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  I didn't --


MR. BRETT:  Excuse me.  I --


MR. SMITH:  Just to respond to my friend, I did not mean any professional discourtesy.  I just wanted to make sure that the record was clear that he was just simply referring to the settlement agreement, which I have no objection to.

MR. BRETT:  I talked about a settlement agreement.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Brett, I think we're --


MR. BRETT:  I didn't talk about settlement discussions.  You know, I'd like to give my cross-examination without a string of these interventions that...

All right.  So let's go back to this situation.

Enbridge, so what we have here is Enbridge withdrew their request, and now Enbridge has come back, of course, in their own rate case in -- their own 2012 rate case, and they've asked for Z-factor treatment of their cross bore program, which is -- we've agreed is essentially similar to yours.

You're aware of that?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  That's my understanding.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thanks.

Now, in that case, in the Enbridge case, BOMA asked an interrogatory about Enbridge's proposal, and the essence of the interrogatory was this.

Is the program for which you're seeking Z-factor treatment any different than the program that you started back in 2009 and have implemented in 2009 and '10 and '11?

And Enbridge's answer, in essence, was no, the activities have not changed substantially, and they gave a couple of caveats to that.

Now, I can give you the number of that interrogatory.  It's Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 7, page 1.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Brett, can I just ask why this line, where you're going with this line of questioning?

The previous case has been litigated and resolved, and is not the matter that is in front of us.

MR. BRETT:  No, what I'm trying to do here is to -- these two cases essentially raise the same issue.  They raise Z-factor.  They request Z-factor treatment for a program which is substantially similar.

So what I'm -- obviously, it appears to me, at least, that if the Board were going to grant Z-factor treatment to one, they would grant Z-factor treatment to both of them.

Now, I don't know whether -- you know, I know it's a different panel and all of that, but it would be -- seems to me it would be rather odd if the results reached were different.

MS. TAYLOR:  So without going back to the previous discussion, that was a settlement agreement between the parties accepted by the Board.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MS. TAYLOR:  Settlement agreements, as you're aware, do not bind.

MR. BRETT:  No, I wasn't referring to that, Madam Chair.

MS. TAYLOR:  Just let me finish, please.

MR. BRETT:  I was referring to the two current cases.

MS. TAYLOR:  Also, we're not aware of the facts in the previous case.  They are not before this Panel.  And we are going to be guided by the facts that are in front of us as it relates to this application.

So if you would like to proceed on that basis, I think that the Panel would be --


MR. BRETT:  All right.  I'll move on.  The only comment I would make was I wasn't looking at the past case; I was looking at Union's current case -- sorry, Enbridge's current case, which is before the Board.

MS. TAYLOR:  It is not before this Panel, and the evidence as it relates to that case is not before us to hear this case.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  That's fine.

MS. TAYLOR:  And we will determine this case on the basis of the facts before us here.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  I'll move on.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Now, in this case, I'd like you to turn up -- in this particular case, the Union case that we're now here talking about, turn up Interrogatory B.9.8 and attachments 4 and 5.

Now, this is an interrogatory of Mr. Shepherd for the Schools, and the attachments, do you have those?  It's a little confusing.  It was a very long response to the interrogatory, with several subsections to it, but it's B.9.8, and these are attachments 4 and 5.

And what these are, are minutes of two meetings of something called the risk reduction group.  And I believe these are --


MR. TETREAULT:  We need a minute, sir, to turn up the exhibit.  We're still searching for it.  We have it.  We just need to find it.

MR. BRETT:  You have it?  I want to wait until you get it.

MR. TETREAULT:  You said attachments 4 and 5 of exhibit --


MR. BRETT:  I think that's right.  Attachment 4 is the highlights of a meeting of March 7th, 2011, of this group.  And then there's also a June 14th meeting of the same group, and it was attachment 5.

In any event, it's part of the -- as I understand it, it's part of the reply to Mr. Shepherd's B.9.8.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, Mr. Hodgins, have you located the document?

MR. HODGINS:  I think we have it here, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, with respect to those documents, first of all, were you in attendance, Mr. Hodgins, at those meetings?  Was anyone from Union there?

MR. HODGINS:  I was in attendance at the June 10th, 2011 meeting.

MR. BRETT:  Right, but not the March?

MR. HODGINS:  None before that.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  I understand.  So you were there at the -- all right.

Now, if you look at the minutes of the June 2011 meeting, at the bottom of the page there's an item entitled "Review of Advisory on Clearing Blocked Sewer Service Lines."  Do you see that?

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, just to be clear, Mr. Brett, you're referring to the March 7th letter, not the June 1st; is that correct?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Perhaps, yeah.  Right.  I see it.  It's on both, I guess.  At least, on the March 1st one, it's also on there.

What I want to ask you is:  The advisory on blocked service lines was what?  It was a document issued by the TSSA?

MR. HODGINS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And it was issued, as I understand it, in September -- sorry.  It was issued on October -- well, it called for a report to be submitted to the director by September 10th, but when was it issued?  Do you know when that was issued?

MR. HODGINS:  I just want to double-check that, but...

MR. BRETT:  It looks like --


MR. HODGINS:  I believe it was posted on August 31st, 2011.

MR. BRETT:  Now, that was the order; right?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  You're referring to the order?

MR. HODGINS:  I am.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, as I understand it, there were two things done here.  There was an order that everybody knows about that was published on that date, but there was also, earlier on, about a year earlier, an advisory, something called an advisory published.  Do you have any knowledge of that?

MR. HODGINS:  I do not.

MR. BRETT:  Would you be prepared to just give an undertaking to provide that?  Could you find that advisory, get that advisory?

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we do this?  Why don't we give an undertaking to determine whether we know if an advisory was issued, and, if it was issued, when?

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Brett, is that --


MR. BRETT:  That's fine.  That's acceptable.  And as I understand it, at the second meeting --


MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Brett, let's mark that.

MS. SEBALJ:  I'm just going to mark that as J2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO ADVISE WHETHER UNION ADVISED OF ADVISORY ISSUE, AND, IF SO, WHEN.

MR. BRETT:  At the June 14th meeting, as I understand it, there was a resolution that said it was resolved that the proposed advisory on cross bore --


MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Brett, is there a problem with your mic?

MR. BRETT:  Sorry?

MS. TAYLOR:  The court reporter is having difficulty hearing you.

MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry.  Maybe I'm leaning back in the chair. Let me just go back.  In the June 11th meeting -- sorry, June 14th, 2011 meeting of this group that Mr. Hodgins attended, there's a note on a resolution that was taken, and it says:
"It was resolved that the proposed advisory on cross bore included in the agenda be changed to a TSSA director's order.  The proposed order is attached below."

Now, Mr. Hodgins, you were at the people.  Do you recall why they changed the status of the documentation from an advisory to a director's order?

MR. HODGINS:  I don't recall the details of why that decision was made.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now, of course everyone is, I think, familiar with the order that issued eventually, and that order asked for a report with an action plan to be presented by, I believe, October 31st of 2011; correct?

MR. HODGINS:  I believe that's correct, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  Now, the question to you is -- the next question to you is -- Union, like all gas utilities, has always maintained a focus on safety issues.  In this case, in my interrogatory -- could you turn up the BOMA Interrogatory B3.2?  That is in this case, the case that is before us.

In that question, I had asked about, you know, could you provide any detail on other safety-related diagnostic, maintenance and repair programs developed and implemented by Union over the last several years?

And, essentially, you said -- well, the answer was the diagnostic, maintenance and repair programs, safety-related by assumption at least, in part, developed and implemented by Union over the last 20 years -- that was probably a mistake to ask for 20 years.  But, in any event, you said they're too numerous to mention.

So that tells me that you, as a matter of course, have developed -- you have a sort of a continuing role of addressing and being alert to potential safety issues in the organization.  And my question to you is, flowing from that, I would put to you the proposition that both you and Enbridge -- let's just deal with you, because Enbridge isn't before us.  You have developed this program, almost completely, for cross bore in advance of receiving any order from the TSSA, and that effectively you would have -- and you would have developed this program -- well, you did develop this program without getting an order from the TSSA; correct?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah, I would say that's correct.  If it helps, I could give a bit of a time line on when - I think where you're going - we became aware that this was a risk for us, and sort of the time line and how it evolved.

MR. BRETT:  That's fine.

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  So you had mentioned that the AGA white paper was issued in '09.

MR. BRETT:  That was the CGA paper, white paper; right?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Well, the CGA issued a paper --


MR. BRETT:  Oh, I'm sorry, all right.  The AGA paper in '09, yes?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Right.  And then you referenced the Enbridge launch in late '09, mid to 2010, and then the CGA task force in 2010, and then the TSSA director's order in 2011.  So we first became aware that this was a risk that we needed to address, I would say, in '09.

In fact, I'm not sure that we had heard the term "cross bore" before that time.  And we were -- our initial thought was that this was an issue that was specific to the US.  If you think about it in the US, their sewer lines, especially in the warmer climates, can be much shallower and in the same plane as where we would be installing natural gas systems.

We thought that, you know, the colder climates in Canada, typically sewers are installed below the frost line and down well below where we would be installing gas lines, and so, therefore, not a significant risk at that time, was our belief.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Armstrong, can I interrupt for a second?  I heard Mr. Hodgins say yesterday that Enbridge had two incidents, one in the States and one in your own distribution system.  And that would have been, if my recollection is correct, around 2005.  But now you just said you first heard about this in 2009, so can you reconcile those time lines for me, please?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  So the term "cross bore" is what I was referring to.  So we have now over 1,000 -- approximately 1,300 plant damages a year at Union Gas.  And if we'd have had a cross bore, you know, prior to the time we were aware that it was a significant risk, we would have deemed it a fluke or sort of a one-off, and it would have been captured as one of those 1,300 plant damages that we would have addressed in the normal course of our plant damage prevention program and repair.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.  Mr. Thompson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Now, just in terms of the background and context, panel, do we agree that this is a Z-factor issue, unlike the previous issue, where there was some disagreement as to whether it was a Z-factor or not factor?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that is our position, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  And to put this into context, you're seeking this Z-factor relief in the last year of Union's five-year IRM program; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, we're seeking it for 2012.

And is it fair to say that in your 2013 rebasing case, you have included in the forecast there cross bore costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of this five-year IRM program, I had a discussion with the witness panel yesterday about overearnings over the five years.  Were you here to hear that?

MR. TETREAULT:  I did hear that.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the numbers worked out to slightly over $210 million, or, on average, about $42 million per year.  Do you accept that?

MR. TETREAULT:  I can accept that subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the quantum of the Z-factor relief you're seeking here is $1.873 million; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that was the quantum as part of our original rates application, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry, has that changed?

MR. TETREAULT:  It's a forecast, Mr. Thompson, and as part of the settlement agreement in this proceeding, we agreed initially to remove that cost from rates, that cost of 1.873 million from rates, to be dealt with as part of the hearing here.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but for the purposes of this hearing, is that the forecast we should be looking at, or has it changed?

MR. TETREAULT:  That is the correct forecast amount.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And so it exceeds the threshold by $373,000?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you are presenting that in the context of $210 million of overearnings.  That's the picture?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

Now, could you just tell us how high up the management chain the decision-making to make the Z-factor claim goes?  Is this a call that's made by the regulatory group, or does it go much higher?

MR. TETREAULT:  I'm not sure, Mr. Thompson, that I'm privy to how far up the management chain the discussions may go.  It was certainly discussed amongst senior management in regulatory affairs.  Beyond that, I could not tell you.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So has the president authorized this claim, or can you tell me?  And if not, could somebody tell me how high up the food chain this goes?

MR. SMITH:  If that's a request for an undertaking, in my submission, it's not a relevant question to determine.

Union has filed an application, which obviously requires the approval of the company.  There are requirements in the settlement agreement reached by the parties with respect to the IRM program that set out certain criteria for Z-factor treatment.

The level at which approval of any particular item in an application or in relation to a Z-factor is authorized at, in my respectful submission, is not a relevant criteria, and therefore the question itself can't be relevant.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  I'll move on.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Moving on to this cross bore risk Mr. Brett was discussing with you, if you could turn up Exhibit B4.1.

This is a CME interrogatory where we're asking you to elaborate upon the history of this item, and we ask what the source of the information was for some statements in your prefiled, and you directed us to the Cross Bore Safety Association website; is that correct?  That was the answer?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And I sent you folks an e-mail indicating I wanted to refer you to a certain portion of that material on the website.  And I assume you got that, and I gave your counsel a copy of this the other day.

So I'm going to ask to have marked, from the Cross Bore Safety Association website that I was referred to, two pages related to the "History" section of that website.

MS. SEBALJ:  On the assumption there's no objection, we'll just mark it as K2.3.

MR. SMITH:  No objection.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  TWO PAGES FROM "HISTORY" SECTION OF CROSS BORE SAFETY ASSOCIATION WEBSITE

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Now, just before I ask these questions, I'll ask a couple of simple ones.

Does Spectra own several utilities?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I want to be clear on it.  Do you mean distribution utilities or...

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, utilities, all utilities.  It's a transmission company, I know, so it must have a number of utilities.  Does it?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  We refer to them as business units, but -- there's a number of business units, but we're the only distribution utility.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me ask this.

Is Union a prudent utility?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would say yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, this, coming back to Exhibit K2.3, if you go over to page 2, this goes to the history.  The website you referred me to says:
"Since 1999 and more broadly since 2006, utility companies have become aware of the cross bores safety issue."

And then it goes on and describes some more recent installations that have used certain processes; correct?  That's what it says?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so can we take it that cross bore safety is not something new in 2011?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  That's not new in 2011.

MR. THOMPSON:  Good.  And this document suggests that it has been around, as Mr. Brett suggested, for at least since 1999 and certainly reasonably well known since 2006; is that fair?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I guess I would go back to the earlier statements I made around -- when we became aware of the issue, at first we thought it was a US issue.  And again, because in the colder climates with the sewers installed at a much lower depth, well below the plane of where we would be installing gas lines, we didn't think that this issue was a risk for us at Union Gas.

MR. THOMPSON:  But the cross bore risk is not a new risk; it's been around for some time?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, you discussed with Mr. Brett that you have a "locate before you dig" program.  What is that all about, please?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Anyone who's going to excavate, whether it be to put in a fence or a pool or a deck or anything, has an obligation to call the one call centre before they dig, so that the underground utilities can be marked to prevent plant damage.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And that's been around for a long time?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.  We continue our efforts to ensure all utilities are members, and that all excavators call.  And we're making good progress on that, but it's a continual evolution, the program.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And you budget costs for that in your revenue requirement?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.  I think we did 270,000 or so, responded to 270,000 or so locate requests in 2011.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But that's all part of base rates?  You have -- the "call before you dig" program is part of a budget?

MR. TETREAULT:  There are locate costs within Union's distribution rates.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then the "call before you locate" (sic) component is part of what larger budget?  Is that a construction budget?  What department does all this fall in?

MR. TETREAULT:  It would be part of Union's overall O&M, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so there is a big number embedded in rates, of which a smaller number is embedded in rates is the "call before you locate" program?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, there are locate costs in Union's Board-approved rates.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then you have, if you turn to -- I think it's Exhibit B.4... I thought it was 4.  Excuse me one second, please.

I think it's B4.4.  You manage the risk of the occurrence of what I would call damage to plant incidents within the existing budgetary requirements, and that includes the provision of some insurance coverage; is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so if an incident occurred in the past where something being done to a home owner's sewer affected a gas line and some damage ensued and it engaged insurance coverage, that would come within the existing portfolio of risk management tools that have been used; is that fair?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Can you repeat the question?  I just want to make sure I understand it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  If something happened in the past where somebody was cleaning a sewer and caused damage to a gas line - in other words, you had an existing cross bore situation and a sewer cleaning caused damage to the gas line, and an incident occurred - that would be recorded not as a cross bore incident, but as a damage to a gas line incident.  And it would be -- it would be addressed within the existing scheme of budgets and insurance coverage that you had?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I think I would agree that we would treat it as one of the, you know, over 1,000 plant damages we have a year.  It would be another one of those plant damages that we would deal with.  And depending on the circumstances, there might be a court case to determine liability and all those types of things before --


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so that brings me back to B4.2, where we asked about cross bore incidents in the past, and you said you did not formally track cross bore incidents.

And what I'm suggesting to you is, if one occurred, it would have showed up as an incident, but just as one of the many incidents that you might have when somebody hits your gas line?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So it's not that they weren't happening.  It's that they weren't just formally being tracked?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So I suggest to you that while there was no special tracking of these incidents, the risk was known, and the risk was known and managed as part of your regular plant damage procedure; is that fair?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would disagree that -- to say that the risk was known.  I mean, if you look at when the various associations in Canada and in North America have been formed, they were formed, I think, when this became an identified risk.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, the Cross Bore Association was formed in 2006, I thought you told Mr. Brett.

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah.  Like I said, we've additionally thought that this was a higher risk in the US and not a significant risk for us.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that was your response to the risk:  We don't have that risk, because our gas lines are five feet above our sewer lines?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Or above -- yeah.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's about it?  Is that roughly the spread?  I know my sewer goes out to the bottom of the house and the gas comes in near the -- the bottom of the basement, and the gas comes in near the top of the basement.  Is that customary?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would say that's typical.  It's not always the case, obviously, which is why, you know, we found 41 cross bores this year.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  What do you mean it's not always the case?  Where in Ontario are the sewer lines at the top of the -- or close to the surface?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  We have found installations like that.  Trailer parks are a good example where sewer lines are typically very shallow and may only be a couple feet deep, as an example.

MR. THOMPSON:  You don't have 1.3 million trailer parks in your franchise area, do you?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  No, and that was just an example.

Raised lawns, and there's other, I guess, examples.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, what I'm suggesting to you, panel, is this was clearly a known risk as of 2006, if not earlier, for which a prudent utility would take risk mitigation steps.  And what you're saying is, Initially, we thought we didn't face the risk to the same degree the US did, and that's the way we manage the risk?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah, clearly if you -- our greatest risk is from third-party damage due to excavation, and our prime focus as to damage prevention initiatives has been on "Call Before You Dig" and those programs.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Let me move on to the sequence of events with respect to the TSSA.

Now, as I understand it, it was the CGA that took the initiative to deal with this issue initially.  Have I got that straight?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Can you repeat the question?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  It was the Canadian Gas Association that developed some sort of paper to deal with this -- to develop a standard for this problem initially, and Union -- and this is my understanding.  You correct me if I am wrong.  Union and EGD are members of that CGA committee?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  The CGA developed the white paper in 2010, and, yes, we are members of the CGA and on the standing committee of operations, which I guess --


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So the prudent utility members of the CGA decided, We should have a standard for this, and developed a white paper on the topic?  Have I got -- is that fair?

MR. HODGINS:  I would say that the CGA white paper was initiated by one of the standing committees for the CGA to look at the issue and to help educate the membership on the issue.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And am I correct that Enbridge was one of the driving forces behind this?  I'm just taking that from what you've said in your testimony.

MR. HODGINS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And Union was with Enbridge on this initiative?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.  That's correct, yeah.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so it was the CGA, then, that took it to the standards association, and then that effectively prompted the standards association to take the steps it took; fair?

MR. HODGINS:  Yeah, I'm not aware of the CGA taking it to TSSA.  I'm aware of the white paper being developed, and then the discussions happening with TSSA.  I don't know if they are -- how related they are.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it would appear that the CGA paper prompted the TSSA to do something, whether they actually formally presented it to them.  Is that a fair conclusion to draw from what you're telling us?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  And so the TSSA order didn't trigger, as Mr. Brett points out, Union or Enbridge to be addressing this risk.  It was the reverse.  Initiatives of Union and Enbridge prompted the TSSA to do something?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I mean, I guess I would say that we identified this as a risk, and we were well on our way with a program before the TSSA issued their order.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And the TSSA order, I would suggest to you, simply confirms what a prudent utility should be doing to manage the cross bore damage risk; is that fair?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Now let's turn to, if I can, an examination of this estimate that you've developed to support the $1.873 million claim, and that takes us to Board Staff No. 1, B3.1.  And you also need to just have --

MR. SMITH:  I apologize, Mr. Thompson.  I missed that interrogatory number.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I'm sorry.  B1.1 is the OEB interrogatory, where you've provided the details of the $1.8 -- well, you provide the details of the 1.825 O&M component.  But that's the bulk of the 1.873 million; fair?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And you'll also need to be aware of the information in B4.2.

This is the question we asked you about what's happened in 2011 to date, in terms of this program.  And you say there that between January 1 and September 30, you had discovered 40 cross bores.

MR. HODGINS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the other information that I want to refer to, and I should probably draw to your attention now, is, first of all, in your prefiled evidence in terms of the 2011 costs, you estimated those.  I think it's at Exhibit A, tab 5 on page 5.  You said they were 800 million in O&M, and 1.1 million in capital.

MR. HODGINS:  I believe that may have been 800,000 in O&M.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry, 800,000, of course.  My apologies.

When you guys are around, I just can't think of in thousands.

MR. SMITH:  Aha.

[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  800,000 in O&M, and 1.1 million in capital.  But I understand from your answer in B8.3 that the actual in 2011 is now expected to be 500,000 O&M and 1.1 million in capital.

Have I got that straight?

MR. HODGINS:  That was our answer at the time of that interrogatory.  Our actual O&M expenditure for 2011 was just over $800,000.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So you're back up to where you thought you would be initially?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.  But you have a history in 2011 with respect to the components of this presentation you've made at B1.1?

MR. HODGINS:  We have a partial-year history.  Our program started in August of 2011.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that, then, takes me to this estimate that you're still relying on for your $1.873 million.

And the big-ticket item here is emergency gas line sewer locates.  And here, you estimate using your 1.3 million customers.  Now, is that all the customers in Union's franchise area?

MR. HODGINS:  Approximately, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And your first component is 70 percent have sewers.  Now, what's that based on?

MR. HODGINS:  It was based on information that we were able to locate from CMHC data.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So you haven't confined your -- CMHC data would be applicable to residential customers; is that right?

MR. HODGINS:  All, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so the 1.3 million include non-residential customers?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So how many residential customers do you have?  1.1?  One million?

MR. HODGINS:  I don't have the answer off the top of my head.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, could you give me an estimate, and undertake to --


MR. TETREAULT:  I can give you an estimate, Mr. Thompson.  It's roughly a million to 1.1, 1.2 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  So 1.1?

MR. TETREAULT:  Approximately.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And the CMHC data, is that in the record anywhere?

MR. HODGINS:  I'm not aware of it, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what does it say?

MR. HODGINS:  I believe the information that we found said that there was 70 to 75 percent of customers had sewers as opposed to septic tank systems.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then you go on to say one percent of them are blocked.  Where does that come from?

MR. HODGINS:  That comes from Enbridge's experience from their program that they were able to provide us with.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is there any data in the record about that?

MR. HODGINS:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what was your experience in 2011?  How many blocked sewers did you uncover?

MR. HODGINS:  Well, I don't know if I could answer how many blocked sewers, ultimately.  I can tell you that from the time we implemented the program until the end of the year, we had approximately 1,300 calls go through Ontario one call for our sewer safety inspection to locate the gas and sewer lines before a blocked sewer line was cleared.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So 1,300 for half a year; is that what you're saying?

MR. HODGINS:  We did not launch any sort of program until the start of August.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So not half a year, it's five-twelfths of a year?

MR. HODGINS:  Approximately, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so that would translate into roughly, I would suggest, about 3,000 calls annually, right?  That data would produce that result?

MR. HODGINS:  That data would, but it wouldn't take into consideration that it's a start-up program.  And we are communicating with the market as we speak to train them on the program.  So we expect and we are seeing, based on the data month-over-month in 2011, that those calls will go up.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But does your program indicate:  Don't call if the gas line is clearly five feet above the sewer line?

MR. HODGINS:  Our program does not indicate that.  Our program indicates:  Call before you have a blocked sewer –- sorry, call before you clear a blocked sewer.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  In any event, we've got 1,300 for the period August to the end of 2011.  And yet your number is based on 9,000 calls, right?  Your estimate for 2012?

MR. HODGINS:  That's our estimate, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if it was 6,000 calls, not 9,000, this would not fall within the Z-factor threshold, right?

MR. HODGINS:  Based on my quick math, no, it would not.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And if it was 3,000 instead of 9,000, it would be well below the threshold?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I think what we're saying is this is a brand new program.  Clearly, there's a lot more education to do.  By no means do we think that everyone who has a blocked sewer is now calling into our program.  I mean, that would be ideal, but we're clearly a long way from that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you have the onus of convincing the Board that these numbers are reliable, and if you don't get there -- in other words, if the Board thinks these might be a little high, and you may not be over the threshold -- then that, perhaps, is another reason why they could reject this in 2012.  But in 2013 it will be open season because that's a rebasing year.  You folks understand that?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Mm-hmm.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the emergency sewer video assessment, how many of those have you had actually in 2011?

MR. HODGINS:  I'm not sure if I have that number off the top of my head.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what prompts the emergency sewer video assessment?

MR. HODGINS:  That is prompted by us getting a call to go out and do a sewer safety inspection and locate the gas and the sewer line, and for whatever reason it can't be located, the sewer line can't be located, and us having to call in a secondary service provider to do a video camera from the main sewer line.

MR. THOMPSON:  So have you had any in 2011?

MR. HODGINS:  We have.

MR. THOMPSON:  And can you estimate?  Is it less than five?

MR. HODGINS:  It would not be more than five but, like I said, I don't have that number off the top of my head.

MR. THOMPSON:  So not more than five in the five months, August to December?

MR. HODGINS:  No.  Not more than five percent, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Not more than...

MR. SMITH:  Five percent.

MR. HODGINS:  Five percent.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Five percent of the 1,300 calls?  Is that -- is that what you're saying?

MR. HODGINS:  It's an estimate, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that would be 65, not more than 65?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And not less than zero?

MR. HODGINS:  Not less than zero, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is it a positive number?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  You told me it was.

MR. HODGINS:  It is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what's your low-ball estimate?

MR. HODGINS:  I don't have that number.

MS. HARE:  Could you get the number, though, as an undertaking?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sure we can.

MS. HARE:  I think it would be helpful to actually have the number rather than getting a range.  So if we could take that as an undertaking?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think we're at J2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE NUMBER OF CALLS RECEIVED FOR SEWER-GAS SAFETY INSPECTIONS

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, the next item, "call service", that's linked to the first item we discussed?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And now "excavation", what's your experience -- what is this all about?

MR. HODGINS:  This is us finding a potential conflict or not being able to clear a potential conflict from the first two steps that we've already talked about, and us having to actually dig up a potential location of a cross bore.

MR. THOMPSON:  And did you have any of those in 2011?

MR. HODGINS:  We did not.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that's zero.  Now, proactive investigation for potential cross bores?

MR. HODGINS:  Could I just go back to that previous question?

MR. THOMPSON:  Sure.

MR. HODGINS:  We did not have an excavation that located a gas and sewer cross bore.  We had an excavation that we thought could potentially be a gas line.  We dug it up, and it was actually a communications line through a sewer line as opposed to a gas line.  So my answer, I guess, would be we did have one.

MR. THOMPSON:  One hole?

MR. HODGINS:  One hole.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So was there any cost recovery with the one hole?

MR. HODGINS:  In that case, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  The proactive investigation for potential cross bores, what does that involve and what prompts it?

MR. HODGINS:  I described that yesterday as one of the components of our program.  We call it the sewer safety investigation component.  And it is areas that we have identified as higher risk or higher priority areas that we are proactively video cameraing to ensure that there are not cross bores.

MR. THOMPSON:  And how many in 2011?

MR. HODGINS:  We did approximately 1,200 in 2011.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, 1,200?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Versus the 500 you're forecasting for 2012?

MR. HODGINS:  Yeah.  We were able to -- our original plan was to do, you know, between 1,000 and 1,500 over the course of -- you know, the start of a few months, and then assess where we were at, and we were able to get more completed based on the weather and some other conditions.  So we went with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So within your 2011 $800,000, you've got 1,200 proactive investigations which, by the numbers you have presented here, should account for $500,000?

MR. HODGINS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Did it?

MR. HODGINS:  I believe so, yes, somewhere around there.

MR. THOMPSON:  All the other stuff that you've done has been -- which makes up the bulk of the Z-factor claim has been done for $300,000?  You told me up to 2011 was 800,000.

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what -- are these average costs, then, you have for some of this other stuff too high?

MR. HODGINS:  We don't believe so at this time.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is the average cost for the locates that you did in 2011 $150?

MR. HODGINS:  Approximately.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. HODGINS:  I think we could break down those 800,000 costs.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you've told me 500 of it is proactive investigation.

MR. HODGINS:  Something in that range, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is it far off?  You seem to be hesitating on it now.

MR. HODGINS:  No, I'm not hesitating on it now.

MS. TAYLOR:  I think, Mr. Thompson, we would be aided by a breakdown of the 800,000 that is being suggested by the panel.

DR. HIGGIN:  Madam Chair, I had questions to get that undertaking, as well, for 2011, this is.  And so can we just try to do one undertaking, because I'll be asking for a similar one?  Can we define it?

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Smith, do you have any objection to that?

MR. SMITH:  Oh, certainly not.

MS. TAYLOR:  So let us proceed with one undertaking to break down the total costs in 2011, that approximately total $800,000, into all of the constituent parts for the program.  Is that clear?

DR. HIGGIN:  Just to say that that would be along the same categories as us per the exhibit in Board Staff 1.1.

MS. TAYLOR:  Can we mark that?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, so it will be J2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO BREAK DOWN THE TOTAL COSTS IN 2011 OF $800,000 INTO ALL THE CONSTITUENT PARTS FOR THE PROGRAM, AS REFERENCED IN BOARD STAFF B1.1.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So thank you very much.  Just on this proactive investigation, having done 1,200 in 2011, does that leave less to be done in 2012?

MR. HODGINS:  Our estimate right now is that we will do approximately 500.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the answer to the question is no?

MR. HODGINS:  The answer is, right now, we're planning to do approximately 500 more.

MR. THOMPSON:  Having done 12 -- my question is:  Having done 1,200, does that mean it leaves less to be done in 2012?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would say no.  I mean, it depends on the duration of the program, but considering that we could have, you know, hundreds of thousands of cross bores out there --


MR. THOMPSON:  Hundreds of thousands of cross bores out there?  Caused by what, when your sewers and your service -- gas lines are so far apart?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  When you do the math, I mean, I'm not suggesting that there are that many, but it's possible.  We found 41 this year so far this year.  We've had a serious safety incident in the Belleville area.  When we have an incident or we find a cross bore, we'd like to go there and proactively investigate similar installations in the area to make sure that we've mitigated the risk.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.  Before we continue on, I'm mindful that the court reporter has not yet had a break for the morning, and that we have yet to see Mr. Brett's document and have it read by the panel so he can ask his one question.

It's about 5 after 11:00.  Why don't we reconvene at 20 after 11:00, and -- yes, Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Could I just perhaps advise, on reflection and after listening to Mr. Thompson's questions, I don't have to file this document now?

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.  So we'll still reconvene at 11:20 and continue with the examination of this panel.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:27 a.m.

MS. TAYLOR:  Please be seated.  Mr. Quinn?

Oh, sorry.  Dr. Higgin, were you complete?

DR. HIGGIN:  Mr. Quinn deferred to me.  I don't know why, but I'm going first with this panel.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  You will be pleased to know that given the heavy cavalry has ploughed the field, we will have much less in questions.

So I would like to start by saying:  Can you please have the Board Staff IRR -- that's Interrogatory Response B1.1 –- handy?

I have a few follow-up questions that relate to that in a moment.

However, I would also like you to turn up the interrogatory response to Energy Probe, which is B5.2.  I'll let you get that.  Do you have that?

MR. HODGINS:  I do.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So I'm only a little bit puzzled as to why you didn't respond to part (c) of this interrogatory when we put it to you.  Did you not have the information at that time about 2011 costs?  I just want to understand why you didn't provide the response requested.

MR. HODGINS:  We would not have had all of our 2011 costs when we responded to this IR.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And you now do?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Correct?  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, just coming back to your estimates on the record of the 2011, I just wanted to understand what the 800,000 in costs is, what it contains, in a general sense.  Okay?

So first of all, does the cost include only the direct costs, or does it include indirect costs such as salaries and wages for your team, and all of those overhead-type costs?  What does the $800,000 in costs contain?

MR. HODGINS:  It would include those direct costs, I believe, what you're referring to.  But there is some salary and wages included in that 800,000 for part-time staff that we are using to train the marketplace.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Just to clarify that, those are the only costs, which are contract costs, one might call them, as opposed to -- or are salaries and wages for your team.  Tell me how many your team is, maybe.  And are they included in that number?

MR. HODGINS:  Yeah, there would be no -- there's no full-time wages in that number.  Like, for example, there is not my salary in that number.

I have two part-time retirees, one that's been with us for a few months, one that's back just a couple of months, that we are using, as I said, to train the plumbing and the sewer-cleaning industry on our program.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. HODGINS:  And that are working on a part-time basis.

DR. HIGGIN:  So those are what I would classify as direct costs of the program, and so that's what we're looking at, that's what you have presented for 2012, and that's what you will provide in the undertaking; correct?

MR. HODGINS:  My understanding was the undertaking was for 2011 costs.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. HODGINS:  And I will provide that, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Thank you very much.

So I just have a couple of questions as follow-up to the exhibit, the Board Staff interrogatory response that is B1.1, and the table in response to part (a) that you have.  Just a couple of follow-up questions.

The first one is with respect to emergency video locates, sewer video locates.  The question is as follows.

If you do such at a request from either a homeowner or a sewer contractor - which is perhaps the more likely - and the result is negative, do you have an ability to bill those costs to the sewer contractor, and then therefore perhaps indirectly to the homeowner, but -- or not?  Or is that part of the recovery line that you have there?

MR. HODGINS:  It is not part of the recovery line that I have.  And the program that we have put in place, we are not seeking recovery for somebody calling for an inspection or an investigation to their house in the event of a blocked sewer.

DR. HIGGIN:  Even if it's a sewer contractor, i.e., a commercial entity?

MR. HODGINS:  Even if it's a commercial entity, yes, and they're going to clear the blocked sewer.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  My next follow-up question on this table relates to the Ontario one calls.  Okay?  The call-in?

I just need to understand whether the 9,000 calls that you are estimating is all incremental, and what is the base volume of calls for all purposes on that line that we should be looking at?

So we're looking at:  What's the base volume, and then are these all 9,000 for 2012 all incremental?

MR. HODGINS:  Okay.  I'll answer the -- the incremental one is yes, they would be over and above any calls that we would normally have through our "call before you dig" program.

DR. HIGGIN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. HODGINS:  As for the calls that come in there right now --


MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah, I could speak to that.  It's typically -- I think the number for 2011 was about 270,000.  In 2010 it would have been of the order of 250,000 for excavation locates.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  So that's the volume from that line.  Thank you.  That's the number I was looking for.

Now, I would like to just confirm one thing on the answer to my interrogatory or our interrogatory, B5.2.  Okay?

And -- no, I'm sorry, it is the answer from Board Staff, the Board Staff interrogatory.  So back to that, sorry.  B1.1.  And that says, in part (b) that:

"Union is proposing to allocate cross bore safety program costs to its general service rate classes M1 and M2 in the south, and Rate 1 and rate 10 in the north, based on the 2007 Board-approved number of customers."

So that's if you get approval for the cost recovery of the programs.

Can you just indicate exactly why that decision was made, and what are the inputs that led you to suggest that cost allocation?

MR. TETREAULT:  Our understanding is that cross bore issues will only present themselves this is the general service market, so that's our residential, small commercial, small industrial market.  And therefore we've allocated those costs to the four rate classes, the two in the south that you mentioned, the two in the north, that represent our four general service classes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the implication of that is that you have records that would appear to say that out of your total number of incidents or calls, there are none from other rate classes that are material in terms of commercial, larger buildings, industrial, or anyone else?  That's what that would imply?

MR. TETREAULT:  That is my understanding in terms of cost allocation.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I might be able just to add something to that.

So the typical large industrial customer, just by the nature of their gas service and connection, would be larger-diameter steel, typically, and would not be installed through trenchless means.

DR. HIGGIN:  That might be true for your -- I suggest, for Rate 100 T1s, but I'm talking about other classes, not the large industrials.  Thanks.

So thank you.  Moving on now to the next area, and the only one I have left, is this question of the deferral account.  I'm just going move on to that.  That's all I have left.

So perhaps you could turn up an interrogatory about the deferral account, and that would be BOMA interrogatory response B3.3.

MR. TETREAULT:  I have it.

DR. HIGGIN:  You have it.  Thank you.

So the response to the question, which was, In the event the Board accords Z-factor status to these expenditures, or not.  So it's the counter, as well, is posited to you.  So there's two situations.

And your response is:
"The Z-factor criteria referenced was established to ensure the utility cannot claim a cost increase as a Z-factor which could have been otherwise avoided if the utility acted prudently."


Stop there.  And then it goes on to say:
"An order from the TSSA which results in cost increases for Union is not related to Union's prudency."

Could you please explain that in the context of the Z-factor criteria that are listed in your evidence?

Now, in your evidence -- and the reference for that is Exhibit A, tab 1, page 12.  That lists the five criteria for Z-factors that are relevant to this case, because those are the ones that were agreed to in the original EB-2007-0606 proceeding as part of the settlement agreement.  You agree with that?

MR. TETREAULT:  I do, yes, and that's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So we're judging your request versus those very specific Z-factor criteria; correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  I agree.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So would you then respond to what is it you mean in the response to that BOMA interrogatory, please?

MR. TETREAULT:  In terms of the five Z-factor criteria, I would suggest that BOMA response B3.3 really ties back to the second Z-factor criteria that we've listed in prefiled evidence.  So that starts on page -- or, sorry, on line 9 of page 12 of 20.

DR. HIGGIN:  Mm-hm.

MR. TETREAULT:  Where -- I'll read it for the record, where we're saying the criteria are that:
"The costs must be outside of the control of the utility's management and not a risk for which a prudent utility would take mitigation steps."

In other words, meaning that this is not a cost that the utility could have avoided if it were acting prudently.  So we've answered B3.3 under that context.

DR. HIGGIN:  Correct.  Now, if you look at the list of the five Z-factor criteria, there are other ones that may very well be applicable, also.  Would you agree?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So, for example, the fact that any cost must be prudently incurred would be one of them?

MR. TETREAULT:  It is a Z-factor criteria, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So the question, then, it would be a matter for argument as to whether indeed the claim for 2012 for these costs does meet these criteria.  I'm not going to go there.  But the question I have is:  Is one of the factors that's not listed in here, but reasonable to consider, is the question of incrementality of the costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  I would suggest incremental costing is considered as part of the Z-factor criteria, and I would -- again, I'd take you to prefiled evidence, page 12, line 8, which is the first of the five Z-factor criteria, where it sets out that the event itself must be causally related to, in this case, an increase in cost; in other words, an incremental cost.

DR. HIGGIN:  All right.  So that would be your response to how we should apply the incrementality test?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  Union's position is that the request we have for a cross bore Z-factor meets all five Z-factor criteria.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, I understand that from your evidence.  Just one moment while I just have a look at my notes.

Thank you.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you very much, Dr. Higgin.

And do you have any questions for -- with that, Mr. Quinn, it's all over to you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  There might have been some miscommunication at the outset, but Dr. Higgin was being humble when he said he didn't know why I deferred to him, but his experience in these forums is much greater than mine, and his line of question was very parallel.

So I appreciate we're not -- I'm going to try not to duplicate any of his questioning nor some of what Mr. Thompson covered this morning.

And with that as an introduction, good morning, panel.  I want to just provide a small professional disclaimer up front, and I want to say on behalf of my client nor myself, we do not believe that Union is doing anything wrong with the cross bore program.  It is a good program, and it is going to secure the long-time safety in this industry.

So my questions are more on the evolution of the program and the issue in front of us as the Z-factor.

So I just want to explore some of this evolution again, some of which was covered by Mr. Thompson.  So I am only going back for some clarifying questions at the end as to what he covered.

One of the things Mr. Thompson provided was the copy of some pages from the website of the Cross Bore Safety Association, and it would be just convenient for me to refer to Mr. Thompson's exhibit.  Would you have that in front of you?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. RIPLEY:  K2.3?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, K2.3.  Thank you.  Now, there are some dates floating around and we want to be specific.

The Cross Bore Safety Association, in Union's evidence, I understand that you believe that the Cross Bore Safety Association started in 2007; is that accurate?

MR. HODGINS:  That is our understanding, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And you became members in 2011?  That was also part of your evidence?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I guess the question that is begged from this is:  When was Union first approached by the Cross Bore Safety Association for membership?

MR. HODGINS:  We were -- to my knowledge, we were never approached by the Cross Bore Safety Association for membership.  We chose to join as a result of us developing our program and understanding of the risk.

MR. QUINN:  So as you had an increasing understanding of the risk, when is it you first became aware of the Cross Bore Safety Association?

MR. HODGINS:  I would say that we became aware of the Cross Bore Safety Association as we started to develop our program, which was in and around the late 2010 to early 2011 time frame.

MR. QUINN:  It strikes me an association like this, which they have done a considerable amount of outreach, would have been trying to add membership so that this problem could be handled more effectively, with greater knowledge from a greater number of voices.

So is there anybody in your organization that would have been approached that you're not aware of?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I don't believe so.  We had discussions with our engineering folks and the operations folks.  I think if someone had been approached by the association, they would have directed that inquiry to other -- the director of engineering or in operations.

MR. QUINN:  Would those inquiries be directed to you, Mr. Armstrong?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would expect so.

MR. QUINN:  Would you have a knowledge of what your membership costs you in this association?

MR. HODGINS:  Yeah, I wouldn't have that number off the top of my head, but --


MR. QUINN:  Would you take it subject to check that their website, if you hit on the tab for membership, has -- I found two references, one to a $350 a year corporate membership, and one to a $300 a year corporate membership.  Would you take it that that's the membership fee, subject to check?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So it would seem to me there is a growing understanding of this issue, and we'll accept that the industry has learned a lot in the last several years, but it hasn't been an evolution, as defined in this website, that started with an incident in 1976 through '99.  And this morning we went through some of the understanding of Union's awareness and steps, and I'm going to just move a little bit forward to not cover some ground that was covered this morning.

I did provide an exhibit that I wanted to ask some questions about, and I provided it to Board Staff this morning and to Union panel.  Has that been given to the members of the Board?

Now, Mr. Smith, I gave you that, and do you have any objections to it being entered into the record?

MR. SMITH:  No objection.

MS. SEBALJ:  So we'll mark it, then, as K2.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4: Z662 OIL AND GAS PIPELINE CODE

MR. QUINN:  And in fairness, I did talk to Mr. Kitchen yesterday, just because the Z662 is a publication, I'll say, that is widely known in the gas industry, but as opposed to taking my opinions on it, Mr. Armstrong, could you just for the benefit of the Board tell us a little bit about Z662 and its applicability to your responsibilities?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  So the Z662 is the Oil and Gas Pipeline Code, which we -- it covers all of out of underground pipeline system.

MR. QUINN:  So would you say it is the authoritative reference as to the minimum standards required by natural gas utilities?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I would.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

Now, it's quite a voluminous book, and I'm respecting copyright and all those things.  I just took a couple of excerpts, and I'm wonder if you could turn over to the next page and find the reference 12.10.13.1.

Do you have that?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  You are familiar with these requirements, are you, Mr. Armstrong?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I am.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, to your knowledge, did Union Gas have a representative on the task force on safety and loss management systems that created the references in this code?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I know we're represented on a number of code committees.  I would suspect we had representation there, but I would need to confirm that.

MR. QUINN:  Would you take it, subject to check, that Mr. Bob Bacic is listed in the preamble of this special publication, the Z662.107?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I would.

MR. QUINN:  What is Mr. Bacic's position?  Does he work for you?  Do you work for him?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Mr. Bacic works in our engineering department.  So he does not report to me, no.  Nor do I report to him.

MR. QUINN:  All right.  Would you two be peers?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I would say.  We attend a number of meetings together and things like that, so yes.

MR. QUINN:  So does he inform safety decisions by Union Gas?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would say that he plays a, you know, key role in terms of our integrity management programs, and does provide input and direction, yeah, advice.

MR. QUINN:  So -- and I guess there's a difference in engineering that I won't get into great detail, but if Mr. Bacic says something should be put into practice, do you have the right to overrule him, or do you follow his guidance?  Or follow his recommendation?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I guess I would say we have an operations management system and we have an operations management leadership team, so Mr. Bacic, along with a number of others, including the director, the vice-president of engineering and vice-president of operations, all sit together on that same committee.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, again, you may not need to turn it up, but would you take it, subject to check, that he was Union's representative on that pipeline risk reduction group at the TSSA when this issue was discussed?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So Mr. Bacic was involved in the development, obviously, of these codes at a task force level.  And as this special publication was rolled out, there was some guidance in that publication that there was enhancements to the requirements for distribution utilities, which, if you turn over the page, is "Guidelines for Risk Assessment of Pipelines."

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And I apologize, I didn't provide annex M, which was also included in there.  Are you familiar with annex M?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I am aware of it.  I don't have a copy of it with me or anything.

MR. QUINN:  No.  But I guess I can be specific.

Annex M does -- would you take it, subject to check, annex M outlines the responsibilities of the -- I'll read what it says:

"It is duly noted that the clauses in annex M or an informative part of this standard so they provide guidance to Canadian utilities on prudent steps for a utility."

Would you agree with that?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And as a result of incorporation of these guidelines, as I understand it, they were incorporated into the Ontario Regulations to require a pipeline integrity management program?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Now, Mr. Armstrong, are you responsible for the development of the pipeline integrity management program on behalf of Union?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  No, I am not.

MR. QUINN:  Who would be responsible?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I believe Doug Alexander, the director of engineering.

MR. QUINN:  Now, does he report to Mr. Bacic or does Mr. Bacic report to him?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Mr. Bacic reports up through that organization.  I'm not sure if it's to the director directly or not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I'm going to try to, as best I can, ask these questions.  And I accept that if we don't have clarity, we may be able to undertake, but when did Union first submit its first pipeline integrity management program to the TSSA?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I don't have that information.  Sorry.

MR. QUINN:  Would you be able to undertake to provide that?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just before we provide that information, I think that there's implicit in my friend's request for an undertaking an assumption that the pipeline integrity management program overlaps in some respect or in some way with the cross bore program.

And I don't think my friend has established that on the basis of his questions thus far.  So if he wants to make that argument and we're going to give undertakings, I think he needs to make that connection before we undertake further work.

MR. QUINN:  I will try to establish that, if that pleases the Panel.

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, please.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Yes, I may have jumped over some logic, and I apologize to the Panel that I may have done so.

So, Mr. Armstrong, are you familiar with the pipeline integrity management program?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Somewhat familiar, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Your responsibility is the director of -- I'm going to refer to your statement of qualifications.  You're the director of distribution operations?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Can you maybe describe -- maybe that would be helpful to me and to others present -- what is -- what are your responsibilities as they relate to pipeline plant damage?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I have responsibility for the safety and reliability of the distribution system.

MR. QUINN:  And under that safety and reliability responsibility, would you agree with me that risk assessment is part of your safety responsibility?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And would you agree with me that the pipeline integrity management program was established by the TSSA to ensure that each utility reviewed its operation, its distribution operations specifically under pipeline integrity management program, to ensure that they are managing their risks appropriately?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  So when we speak of pipeline integrity, so we have a transmission integrity program, we have a distribution integrity program.  The transmission integrity program has been long established and in place, and the distribution integrity program is newer, I would say.  And you referenced annex M and annex N.

MR. QUINN:  And annex M came in this special publication; you would take that, subject to check?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So this was a 2007 publication.  Would you, Mr. Smith, be accepting of the undertaking now to determine when the pipeline integrity management program was submitted to the TSSA?

MS. HARE:  Well, if I may, I'm still a little bit confused.

I didn't understand -- and I think that's the connection you're making.  That may be that I just don't understand.  The third-party damages, because that's really what cross boring is, is included in integrity management, is it?

MR. QUINN:  It is --


MS. HARE:  Maybe I should ask the panel.

MR. SMITH:  I think we should have that discussion with the witness panel.

MS. HARE:  Yes.  Is that your understanding, that third-party damages, which would either include locates or cross boring, is part of integrity management?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would agree that it's part of our distribution integrity management program.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  That's a good clarification, and I apologize if I had not made that yet.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll provide that undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much.

MS. SEBALJ:  So it's J2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4: TO DETERMINE WHEN THE DISTRIBUTION INTEGRITY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM WAS SUBMITTED TO THE TSSA

MR. QUINN:  And thank you to Member Hare.  Some of my past experience was presuming some things, and I apologize for that.

And I guess now respecting that you did not direct the development of the pipeline integrity management program, I won't ask you questions along those lines, but maybe I can refer you back to the document that is in front of you.

And the guidelines for risk assessment of pipelines refers to a risk assessment process in section 2.2, and I'll just read it for the record:
"Risk assessment forms a component of the broader process of risk management and includes steps of risk analysis (hazard identification, frequency analysis, consequence analysis, risk estimation and risk evaluation, risk significance and options).  The function of risk assessment within the risk management process is shown schematically in Figure B.1."

Which, if you'll turn the page, I've provided.  Oh, sorry.  I was trying to take down the number of pages.  This is illustration and is an example of a risk matrix application to risk estimation and evaluation.  Figure B1.1, would you take it subject to check, is a generic matrix, and this is an example matrix?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I would take it, Mr. Armstrong, you're familiar with this type of risk assessment in your responsibilities?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I am.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So now we turn to the issue of cross bores.  Now, I think I heard clearly this morning that while Enbridge had an incident in 2005, Union was not aware of an incident in their territory at the time of the outset of the development of your program?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I think what I said in that earlier example was that, you know, we do have, you know, over 1,000 pipeline damages a year, and anything that would have been -- had a cross bore come up prior to 2009, we would have treated it as sort of a one-off as part of another plant damage.

MR. QUINN:  And I think the number you referenced earlier was somewhere in the area of 1,300 or 1,400 plant damage incidents in 2011; is that right?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  It could be a little bit less than that.  Historically it's around 1,300, but it's been trending downward.

MR. QUINN:  So would it be fair to say that at the end or -- maybe I'll ask the question.

How often do you do a risk assessment of your plant damages?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would need to defer to our integrity group, our distribution integrity group, and Bob Bacic probably specifically.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then I'll ask it more generally.

If -- well, I can't ask it hypothetically here.  I'm going to suggest to you that if you had 1,300 plant damages, a prudent utility would look for trends to see if there are noticeable systemic problems in the system.  Would that be accurate?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And would you agree with me that a matrix tool like this would be helpful in defining the priority of which areas need the greatest amount of attention?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

So we talked about the evolution, and the record will have the dates you provided.  But I understand from information that you provided, and I am sorry I don't have the direct reference, but you met with the TSSA in June of 2009 about your audit; is that accurate?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I believe so.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you be involved in a meeting like that, Mr. Armstrong?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  No, I was not.

MR. QUINN:  Your evidence does state, though, the cross bores -- that Union provided as a topic for discussion in their audit in 2009 the topic of cross bores.  Would you agree with that, subject to check?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Do you know why Union brought that up in June of 2009?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would say that it was on our radar.  It was coming on to our radar at that time.  We were starting to realize that it was -- could be a significant risk for us.

MR. QUINN:  Would Union have used a risk assessment tool to have looked at the relative risk, similar to this Figure B.2?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Do you know what the results of that assessment were in June of 2009?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  No, not off the top of my head.

MR. QUINN:  Because, again, I had made the presumption that it was under your responsibility, I have to be clear with my question here.  But do you know if currently there is a component of your pipeline integrity management program that speaks to cross bore risk?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  We'd have to confirm that it was actually, I guess, explicitly stated in our distribution integrity program.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  We can provide that undertaking if my friend so wishes.

MR. QUINN:  I guess to be specific, then, one, is it added, and, two, when was it added, would be helpful.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Ask so that moves us --


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, I was going to mark that as J2.5.  But can you just read it back into the record?  You're asking for, when it was added to the --


MR. SMITH:  I believe my friend's question is to ask whether the cross bore safety program is a component of Union's distribution pipeline integrity program, and, if so, when did the cross bore safety program become a component of the pipeline integrity program.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE CROSS BORE SAFETY PROGRAM IS A COMPONENT OF UNION'S DISTRIBUTION PIPELINE INTEGRITY PROGRAM, AND, IF SO, WHEN THE CROSS BORE SAFETY PROGRAM BECAME A COMPONENT OF THE PIPELINE INTEGRITY PROGRAM.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  That's very accurate.  It may be seem more precise than I may have been able to do at the moment.

So I'm just going to fast forward, because we did go through some of the evolution this morning with the others, but, ultimately, as I understand it now, Union is putting forth the request for a Z-factor because of a director's order that has been issued in August of 2011.

Am I correct in saying that that is the event that you are viewing as -- in examining the criteria for Z-factor treatment?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  So I guess my answer would be that we were developing a program prior to the TSSA director's order.  I believe the program meets all the requirements of the Z-factor.

MR. QUINN:  So what would be the event that is referred to in the criteria?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  It would... So it would be the TSSA director's order.

MR. QUINN:  So that is the event that you're referring to?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just when you're talking about -- maybe, Mr. Quinn, when you're talking about "the event", can you refer the witness to the various Z-factor criteria that you're alluding to?

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, we had just covered Exhibit A, page 12 of 20.  Line 8 is the subsection (1) of Z-factor treatment:
"The event must be causally related to an increase or decrease in costs."

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I guess as I read that, then, I would say no.  We were developing the program prior to the TSSA director's record that came into place, and we will continue to do that to mitigate a risk.

MR. QUINN:  So would you be able to define what the event is that you are asking for treatment for?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Sorry, it might not have been clear to me before what you were asking, but I think we identified the risk and we established a program to address the risk, so I guess the event would be the establishment of the program to address the risk.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, I wanted to -- that's the end of my questions in this area, but I want to go back and explore some questions asked this morning that I've deleted from mine but it would help me to get some clarity on.

One of the areas Mr. Thompson was asking about was where the costs for the cross bore program would go in the budget.  And if I understood your answers, it would go into an area of risk management for plant damage for pipelines, generically speaking; would that be accurate?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think generically speaking, Mr. Quinn, that's fair.  There is a plant aspect, as well as an O&M aspect, to these costs.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  In the O&M category, what else would be in that category of O&M costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't have that information.  I don't know.

MR. QUINN:  Well, would we be talking about -- if we raise it up to the level of risk management for pipelines, would locate costs go in there?

MR. TETREAULT:  I'm not sure, Mr. Quinn.  I'm not sure what -- to use the cost allocation term, what OEB system of account these type of costs would flow up through.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then, maybe, again, to expedite the process, I could ask Union and Mr. Smith if he would be willing to take an undertaking to provide to us the total O&M cost with respect to plant damages, which would include the costs of, yes, the cross bore program, but also the locate program, any other damage prevention initiatives that Union Gas has, and the insurance costs that Union pays in terms of managing its risks for pipelines.

Could you provide us with what the components of the O&M would be and what the total amount of that budget would be for 2011?  Or 2012, for that matter?

MR. SMITH:  I guess, members of the Panel, I have two responses to that request.

The first response is I don't know what years my friend's looking for, but even if he's just looking for 2011, we know from the evidence adduced thus far that the number of locates for 2011 alone was 270,000 locates.  So we know that the costs are greatly in excess of what we're talking about here today.

I suppose I have trouble understanding the relationship between how large those much larger costs are and the cross bore safety program is, as it relates to the request for Z-factor treatment.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I guess what my proposition would be is the cross bore program is a new program, but it's a component of managing risk for plant damage.  In that regard, Union -- it's part of a much greater program than Union has, and to the extent, as one example, that they're doing 270,000 locates per year, there's got to be a significant cost base that has been established that is already in rates.  And further, to the extent that they may be -- their actuals may be less than budget, there may be capacity in that program budget for $1.8 million.

So the scope of that budget, to me, is pertinent to the issue of:  Is this a new program or is it a component of an overall pipeline integrity management program that all utilities are required to have in Ontario at this time?

MR. SMITH:  If I can just respond to that briefly, I mean, the problem with that submission is there's no question as to what the overall -- what the five criteria are for Z-factor treatment.  They were settled and agreed upon.

Whether or not there's over- or under-recovery of a larger, different item of which this is a component is not relevant to the question of whether or not Z-factor treatment ought to be accorded in this instance.  And nor is it my friend's first criteria that he advanced.

I mean, there are five criteria; whether this meets it or not, people will obviously have argument to make, but it should be in reference to the settled five criteria, and not to whether there's a larger budget against which Union has over- or under-recovered and therefore should eat this cost, in effect, is the argument.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  The Panel will confer briefly.

[Board Panel confers]


MS. TAYLOR:  So the Panel is of the view that the information requested by Mr. Quinn is not relevant and will not assist the Board in rendering a decision on this particular matter.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I'll accept that.

I'm going turn to another area.  We had some dialogue this morning at different times about Ontario one call, and I don't know if this is your area, Mr. Hodgins.

Is Ontario one call under your responsibility?

MR. HODGINS:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Who would that be?

MR. HODGINS:  In our organization, it would be under our – the relationship with Ontario one call would be part of our plant damage manager's role.

MR. ARMSTRONG:  That would be Pat Cameron, is his name.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I'm going to speak more generically, then, to the evolution of the Ontario one call.

Would you take it, subject to check, that -- well, that one call systems were initially regionally based in urban areas?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And would you take, it subject to check and from my experience, that Union and Kitchener utilities collaborated on Golden Triangle one call to establish a one call system with other utilities in the Kitchener-Waterloo/Cambridge/Guelph area in the '90s?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I'd have to check that.  I know that Bell, Enbridge and Union Gas were sort of the founding members of Ontario One call.

MR. QUINN:  That's accurate.  And that was in the mid-'90s.  Would you take, that subject to check?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And at that time the Ontario one call was created -- and I'm going to, I guess, ask the question -- would you understand that the driving behind getting all the utilities together to create an Ontario one call system was so that each utility could manage its risk for plant damage?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would say the driver was to have an effective, efficient approach to plant damage overall.

MR. QUINN:  Plant damage prevention?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

So you're aware, and I think you spoke to it before, but do you still find contractors digging without locates?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Occasionally.  It's less and less every year, but yes, there's -- that is a prime component of our damages.

MR. QUINN:  So if you would take it, subject to check, that mid-'90s is when Ontario one call was formed, we're some decade and a half later and not everybody's calling in?  Would you say that's accurate?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  It would be accurate to say not everyone calls in, but the damages have significantly declined over that period as more and more members join Ontario one call.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And -- but that happened with the efforts of a number of utilities to get the message out there to contractors and to potentially penalize those who were abusing the system or not using the system?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah.  Again, the message to contractors and TSSA's played a large role in that, as well.

MR. QUINN:  And would you see a similar type of evolution occurring with the cross bore, in terms of getting a message out to, in this case, another group such as plumbers, that there's going to be an evolution that's going to take some time to get everybody to call in?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would agree.  I mean, the conversations we're having around cross bore are a lot like the conversations we were having with excavators when Ontario one call was getting off the ground, if that's what you mean.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, that's what I mean, and I agree with that.  Thank you.

So when we referred -- and I'll refer you back to Board Staff Interrogatory B1.1.

Do you have that?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  In that first line, "emergency gas sewer locates," 9,000 locates, my understanding, that's a build-up from the numbers that you went over with Mr. Thompson this morning; the 1.3 million customers, 70 percent, that's a total build-up of what you could expect as sewer blockages in your service territory for the year?

MR. HODGINS:  It's a build-up, and it's also based on Enbridge's experience with their program, which is also a little more mature than ours.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so that would be how many blocked sewers, using Enbridge's formula, you would estimate would happen in one year?

MR. HODGINS:  It would be the estimated number of calls that we would get coming in for our sewer safety inspection based on a blocked sewer, yes.

MR. QUINN:  I guess my understanding was somewhat different, and I respect that you have the authority, so can you clarify for me how you built up the 9,000 locates?

MR. HODGINS:  Once again, we took our 1.3 million customers and took 70 percent that have a sewer system, and 1 percent per year would call in for a blocked sewer call.

MR. QUINN:  So if I do rough math, that would be 910,000 have sewers and 1 percent of that would be 9,100.  Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So would that presume, then, that 9,000 out of the 9,100 are going to call in in the first year of this program, in the first full year of this program?

MR. HODGINS:  We're estimating -- we were using round numbers, so we were estimating 9,000 would call in in our first year of the program for 2012.

MR. QUINN:  But based upon your development of the number, that results in a very high percentage of first-year call-ins?

MR. HODGINS:  I don't think so.  I think the number is based upon the best available information that we have right now.

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I guess what we're sort of conferring about is, similar to the "Call Before You Dig" program, not everybody that digs calls, and not everybody that has a blocked sewer is going to call in the first year until everybody is aware of it and compliant to the program.

MR. QUINN:  So my proposition would be, if there's approximately, using your math, a total of 9,100 potential blocked sewers next year, what's the probability that 9,000 people will call in, or 9,000 of those sewer blockages will call for this emergency gas sewer locate?

MR. HODGINS:  Maybe we're not saying the same thing.  I guess we're saying that 1 percent of our customer base will have a blocked sewer and will call in, those two connections.  Not just 1 percent will have -- will call in.

MR. QUINN:  And I think we talked that there was nothing on the record about the Enbridge experience which you based these numbers on.  I'm just trying to understand the unstated "and that will call in" part of your table.

MR. HODGINS:  It's the two pieces, I guess, will have a blocked sewer and will call in.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I'll leave that line of questioning.  I think this is just drawing it to the end, and I guess I'm going to circle back to the Exhibit 2.4 that I provided you, Mr. Armstrong, for the risk analysis.  Oh, sorry.  I have one more area of questions, so I'm going to hit that first.

What I understood from what's on the record from this morning, you had approximately 41 cross bores that were identified in 2011 in the first five months?

MR. HODGINS:  Sorry, we had 41 for the entire calendar year.

MR. QUINN:  For the entire calendar year.  So some of these came in before the start of your program?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.  We started to -- as we started to develop our program, we started to track those separately.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And we appreciate that's a good step.

Would you agree with me that -- well, maybe I can ask the question:  Who designed the program as to where to go to find these potential cross bore incidents?

MR. HODGINS:  The cross bore incidents, the 41 that we're specifically speaking about, the majority of those were reported to us.  As we had communications with our municipalities, and as they were doing camera work in their sewer systems, they discovered those.

MR. QUINN:  But the camera work in the sewer systems has been happening in municipalities for years; is that accurate?  Since the nineties?

MR. HODGINS:  I can't speak to when that was happening.  I know that there's technology advances in that area, though, over the past few years.

MR. QUINN:  I'm testing my recall of your evidence and it's not coming clear to me, but I guess I'll just ask the question.  Is this the first time Union got a call from a municipality saying, We found a blocked sewer?

MR. HODGINS:  Sorry, the 41 we're referring to is 41 incidences where we have found a cross bore, not necessarily that there was a blocked sewer involved.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. HODGINS:  Because that cross bore can exist in a sewer line for a number of years with no incident.

MR. QUINN:  But a subset of those would be municipal call-ins.  They were not found by your proactive investigation for potential cross bores?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Do you have any breakdown as to how many you found in your proactive program?

MR. HODGINS:  We did not find any in our proactive program.

MR. QUINN:  So you did 1,200 investigations.  Who determined the location of where those 1,200 investigations were to occur?

MR. HODGINS:  We did, in consultation with municipalities.

MR. QUINN:  And the result of that investigation was zero cross bore incidents?

MR. HODGINS:  We did not find any cross bores in that proactive 1,200; correct.

MR. QUINN:  So if the municipality call-ins are a subset of the 41, what are the other -- how were the other cross bores found?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. HODGINS:  Can you just repeat that question?  I'm not sure that I understand exactly what you're asking me.

MR. QUINN:  My understanding of what we heard this morning was, in 2011, in the entire year, as now been clarified, Union has documented 41 incidences of cross bore; is that accurate?

MR. HODGINS:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  If I heard you correctly, the proactive investigation for potential cross bores investigated 1,200 sites that were developed in consultation with municipalities.  As a result of that investigation, zero cross bores were found?

MR. HODGINS:  That's correct.  It was the proactive investigations that we led, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And so what we heard you say, what I understood you to say, was that a portion of those 41 were independent municipalities calling you to say, upon review of their sewer system, they found a cross bore?

MR. HODGINS:  The 41 were independent of the 1,200 that we proactively conducted a video camera on.  Forty-one were totally independent.  Our 1,200 uncovered no cross bores.

MS. TAYLOR:  So just let me ask.  So I heard you say that the 41 were identified by municipalities when they did their own camera work in their own sewers; is that correct?

MR. HODGINS:  That's correct.  So their own independent --


MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MR. HODGINS:  -- camera work, which they do as part of their regular routine maintenance.

MS. TAYLOR:  One hundred percent of the 41 were identified by a municipality out of your proactive work; is that correct?

MR. HODGINS:  Thirty-nine of the 41 were identified, I believe, by that camera work, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  And just if I may, how many different municipalities -- so what is the distribution of this 39 or 41, and were they in the south or in the north of your service area?

MR. HODGINS:  There were in almost -- I would say many of our service areas.  The only thing I would say, the exception may be the far north, but they were pretty well distributed throughout the south, some in the east.  I can't answer the first part of your question in terms of how many municipalities do the proactive of cameraing.  I wouldn't know that.

MS. TAYLOR:  No, I'm not asking that.  I'm asking:  Of the 41, how many of the municipalities account for that 41 or the 39?

MR. HODGINS:  I wouldn't know that answer off the top of my head, but we could provide that.

MS. TAYLOR:  If you could, please.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think we're up to J2.6, and it is to provide for how many municipalities are included in the 39 or 41 identified cross bores.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO IDENTIFY NUMBER OF MUNICIPALITIES WHICH ACCOUNT FOR 39 OR 41 IDENTIFIED CROSS BORES.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn, sorry.

MR. QUINN:  No, that was helpful.  Thank you.

I guess I had started to say this was my last question earlier, and I referred you back to Exhibit K2.4, which was the risk assessment matrix, Mr. Armstrong.

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So based upon the knowledge -- and this might be -- I wasn't trying to create an object lesson, but as opposed to speaking generically, if you were to take the information that's just been put in front of the Board, would a tool like the risk matrix be helpful in analyzing the results of the 41 occurrences of cross bore, to help you determine where you have a higher potential risk in terms of cross bore incidents?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I would say we use risk methodology to do that, to choose where we're going to do the proactive investigations.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I guess this is -- I'll ask this question and accept that hindsight is 20/20 for everybody.  And I accept that.  We all have a learning in this industry, and it's -- speaking as somebody in the industry for a lot of years, we benefit from a shared understanding of what we learn together and reduce risk for others.

But earlier this morning I heard you say, Mr. Armstrong, that at the time you thought that this was an American problem.  Was that accurate?  From what you said this morning?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  When we first became aware of the issue, yeah, we thought it was more of a US problem.  Yeah.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But given where we are today and the knowledge we have today, would you say that you have a need to enhance your ability to identify and analyze these issues prospectively?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Could you repeat the question, sorry?

MR. QUINN:  I guess given what you now understand today, you can't get a do-over.  We don't get many do-overs in life.  But having said that, based upon what you know today, would you say that, in your experience in your role right now, that you would potentially apply an additional level of diligence or prudence, if the next issue that comes from the States comes before you?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Well, I think each instance would have to be weighed on its own merits.  Like, I mentioned that, you know, out of the 1,300 or so plant damage incidents, we didn't track, specifically track, cross bores.  We treated is as kind of a one-off.  We have other one-offs; like, we've had, you know, rodents chew through plastic pipelines, but we consider those one-offs and not sort of an industry issue that we need to develop a program for.  You know, lightning strikes might be another example.

MR. QUINN:  Breeze-off of regular meter sets?  Would that be an example?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  We have had programs for meters --


MR. QUINN:  In your experience, some one-offs become programs to assess for the risk and become a broader program to mitigate the risk?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I think sometimes when you go looking, you start tracking, you identify a problem, and then you put in a program to mitigate the risk associated with it.

MR. QUINN:  And that's all part of your plant damage program and the responsibilities that you carry in your role?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would more lean towards, I guess, a distribution integrity-type.  That's where we sort of look at all the risks that the utility faces and prioritize them.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's helpful.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you very much, Mr. Quinn.

Do you have any redirect for this panel?  Oh, goodness.  I'm sorry, I do this every hearing.

Kristi?

MS. SEBALJ:  No, that's okay.  I think we indicated at the outset that we didn't have any questions.  But I do have, I think, one that has arisen as a result of hearing the cross today.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:


MS. SEBALJ:  So it's clear that this program is well underway, you'll agree with me?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And that costs are obviously being incurred; is that correct?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And my question, essentially, is if Z-factor treatment was not granted by this Panel to Union, what, if any, impact does it have on the program?  And if you can be specific about that, I guess a general answer would be helpful, but then if -- I expect your answer is going to be that there are some essential aspects of this program that can't be stopped as a result of the Board not granting Z-factor treatment.

And so with reference to Board Staff's Exhibit B1.1, are there aspects of the program that can be or would be trimmed back by Union?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I don't believe so.  We've assessed this risk as part of our overall risks and plant damage risks and all other risks that face the utility, and we deemed there to be a risk here, and that's why we put the program together, to address it.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so regardless of the outcome of this -- on this issue in this hearing, this program will go forward?

MR. HODGINS:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Those are all our questions.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.

Do you have a question?
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  I do.  Mr. Armstrong, you said that you didn't initially think this was an issue, because in colder climates the sewers are installed at lower depths.

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Correct.

MS. HARE:  Does that imply that this is a problem only in southern Ontario and not in northern Ontario?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  In fact, you know, we found one cross bore in Fort Frances, which is in a very far part of the north.

So there are times when the gas system is deeper, installed deeper than typical, and times that, even in the north, that the sewers are installed shallower than typical.

So we could still have that interaction.

MS. HARE:  But would it be true to say that it would be predominantly a southern Ontario issue?  And the reason I ask that –- really, let me ask the real question, then.

If it's really more an issue in the south, do you have the ability to prioritize where you do your work, or does the TSSA director's order tell you you have to deliver the program everywhere?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  No.  We have a discretion based on risk.  So the serious safety incident that we had last year was actually in Belleville, which you might think would be a colder clime, climate, but it was a conversion service customer.  And so after we had that incident, we looked at a number of similar-type installation, conversion services in that type of environment, even by that contractor.

And that's where we focussed to go out and do some proactive investigation, just to give you an example.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Smith, do you have any redirect?
Re-Examination by Mr. Smith


MR. SMITH:  I do have a few questions.  Thank you, member of the Panel.

Just picking up on the last question you asked, Mr. Armstrong, have you, in fact, prioritized the areas where you will direct your program?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, we have been prioritizing them.  And I mean, there's two components to the risk; there's probability and consequence.  And we know that the cross bore issue is a low probability but very high-consequence issue.

So for instance, priority customers like schools, hospitals, care and detention facilities, you know, the consequence of a cross bore at one of those locations is much higher, and so we've moved them higher up on the list for proactive inspection.

MR. SMITH:  And this maybe was a question for you, Mr. Hodgins, but I guess the question I have is:  Having prioritized, how do you arrive at the various prioritizations?

MR. HODGINS:  You mean for the proactive work?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. HODGINS:  Yeah, I guess it's -- you know, we did, in terms of identifying areas that we wanted to look at, it was based on, like Wes spoke about, some of the care and detention facilities.

What we also looked at were areas where we had a known cross bore in the past, we had found one.  Wes spoke about the Belleville incident.  And also, you know, factors where we may believe there has been some higher incident of cross bores, such as -- there could be shallow sewers, raised lawns on properties, those sorts of things.

So those were the areas we identified as -- on our list to look at first.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Tetreault, this is a question for you.  You were asked by Mr. Thompson, with reference to Exhibit B1.1, the number of residential customers.  Did you recall that question?

MR. TETREAULT:  I do, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And how many general service customers does Union have?

MR. TETREAULT:  Approximately 1.3 million.

MR. SMITH:  And what rate classes fall or are categorized as general service?

MR. TETREAULT:  That would be M1 and M2 in the southern operations, and Rate 01 and Rate 10 in the northern and eastern operations.

MR. SMITH:  And I apologize, Mr. Armstrong, if this came out before, but in your experience or Mr. Hodgins' experience, which rate classes are more likely to experience a cross bore problem?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  I would say residential-type or smaller service line-type installations.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And this is a question for you, I believe, Mr. Hodgins or Mr. Armstrong.

You were asked a number of questions about K2.3.  And the Cross Bore Safety Association -- so it's clear on the record -- where is the Cross Bore Safety Association located?

MR. HODGINS:  It's a US association.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Finally, Mr. Tetreault, just picking up on an answer Mr. Armstrong gave earlier about small industrial customers, where do they fit into Union's rate class structure?

MR. TETREAULT:  Small industrial customers could fit into either the small-volume general service rate classes, so that would be rate M1 in the south or rate 01 in the north, or they could fit into one of the other two general service rate classes that I mentioned a moment ago.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions in re-examination.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you --


MR. SMITH:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Sorry, if I may just be indulged, Mr. Armstrong, you answered a question with respect to the number of potential cross bore incidents and you mentioned the number "hundreds of thousands."  Can you just describe for the Panel how you arrived at that number?

MR. ARMSTRONG:  To be clear, that number would be the total population of potential cross bores.  So when we look at -- we put in 25,000, roughly, services a year.  Sixty percent of those new services would be installed by trenchless technology.  So it would give you a population of 15,000.  If we'd been using trenchless technology for 30 years, it would be 15,000 installations times 30 years.

But, again, that would be the total population.  Certainly we don't expect that there's that many.

I should also point out that even -- any home that has a gas line that's run in front of it, whether they're connected to natural gas or not, has a potential for a cross bore.  So you could have homeowners out there that aren't connected to natural gas, but have an inch-and-a-quarter, for example, gas main that was run down the street that went through their sewer line.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.  The panel is dismissed.

Mr. Smith, you wish to do your argument-in-chief today, and I know I need lunch.  So do you prefer an hour-and-a-half to two-hour break to prepare, as well as nourish yourself?  So we're proposing to come back at 2:30, 2 o'clock?

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we say 2:15?  I would just make this observation.  There are a number of undertakings which we've given.  Obviously, we'll get started on those right away.  I don't anticipate, however, that the Panel or I will necessarily have the benefit of those at the time that I give my argument-in-chief.  I just wanted to -- we're going to do our best.  I just don't know that it's going to be possible to have them for 2:15.

MS. TAYLOR:  Well, I would expect after submissions you will -- in the event that you are providing an undertaking and it changes a little bit, that you will deal with it in your reply.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, certainly.  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  So we'll break, then, and reconvene at 2:15.  Oh, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I just wondered if you could tell us the schedule for intervenor argument.  I won't be here to hear Mr. Smith.  I don't want to be facetious, but there's another definition of cross bore, a monotonous speaker with an anger-management problem.

MS. TAYLOR:  I'm not going to go there, but we were thinking submissions by Board Staff on Friday, January the 20th; intervenor submissions Wednesday, January the 25th; and any additional response from Union on Friday, January the 27th.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine with me, Madam Chair.  Thanks very much.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, if I just have that correctly, that was the 25th for intervenor submissions?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  If I may suggest a little bit more time for our reply?  That gives us two days for reply, and it gives my friends approximately eight or nine days to consider my argument-in-chief.  And I think we'll need quite a bit more time in the reply, and I would suggest a week.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Is there any objection to that schedule?  Okay.  So we'll give you an additional week.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Or a full week, rather.  Thank you very much.  We're adjourned until 2:15.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:41 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:31 p.m.

MS. TAYLOR:  Please be seated.

[Off-the-record discussion]


MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Smith, the floor is yours.
Final Argument by Mr. Smith:


Thank you.  Members of the Panel, as you are well aware, this is an application for an order or orders fixing rates effective January 1, 2012 for the distribution, transmission and storage of gas by Union Gas.  Rates for 2012, as you know, are to be set under a multi-year incentive ratemaking mechanism, 2012 being the final year of the five-year program.

As the Board observed at the outset, a Settlement Conference was convened in this matter and a majority of the issues were resolved.  There are four issues.  They are -- Issue 4 on the issues list:

"Is the treatment and amount proposed for the cross bore safety program appropriate?"

And related to that is Issue 7 on the Issues List, which I will come to, which was a settled issue and which relates to the establishment of a deferral account in relation to the cross bore safety program.

Issue 8 is the second unresolved issue, and that is the establishment of a transition to USGAAP pension deferral account, and whether that is appropriate.

Issue 10:

"Is it appropriate to close the long-term peak storage deferral account?"

And finally, issue 12:

"Are the wording changes proposed by Union to its rate schedules and bills in relation to late payment appropriate?"

And I intend to deal with those issues in the order in which they are presented in the Issues List.

That brings me to the first issue, which is the cross bore issue about which we heard evidence today.

Before reviewing the program, and as I just alluded to, I would ask the Board to note the agreement between the parties on this issue as reflected in Issues 4 and 7 of the settlement agreement.  And in essence, what the parties agreed is that in order for interim rates to be effective January 1, 2012, no costs associated with the cross bore program would be included in rates; rather, they would be placed in the deferral account which Union had proposed, the cross bore safety deferral account, appropriately named, and provided the Board ultimately agrees on this application that the program qualifies for Z-factor treatment under Union's IR mechanism, the deferral account would then be disposed of at a later date as part of Union's annual disposition of its non-commodity deferral accounts.

And so looking at the way in which these matters have unfolded in the past, Union's non-commodity deferral account proceeding is usually heard in around the summer, so it would be heard in around the summer of this year.  There would be -- I'm sorry, in around the summer of 2013 would be the disposition of costs in relation to the program in 2012.

And the obvious intention with respect to the deferral account, which is symmetrical, is that Union neither over-nor under-recovers in relation to the cross bore safety program.

Turning to the evidence itself and to the program, you will have that at Exhibit A, tab 1, beginning at page 4 and thereafter.  And as described in the evidence, Union is proposing a Z-factor adjustment to allow for the cost recovery of costs related to the program.  The costs are forecast at 1.825 million in O&M costs -- and you'll see that at page 5 of Exhibit A, tab 1 -- with 1.1 million in capital and a revenue requirement of $1.873 million.

Now, as the Board will be aware, a number of undertakings have been given by Union to provide further information in relation to these costs, particularly in relation to 2011's costs.  And obviously we'll be providing those, but I think it's fair to make two observations at this stage.

The first is the program itself began in August 2011.  What we know is that in that five-month period, Union's O&M costs were approximately $800,000.  So in less than half a year, Union had costs of $800,000.

The second observation I would make is that obviously the program is in its relative infancy, and the Board will have heard evidence, or did hear evidence today about the "call before you dig" program.  And in my submission, it is entirely reasonable and appropriate for two things to happen:  one, costs to continue to be incurred as they were in 2011, and as our forecast to be incurred in 2012 as the program takes off; and two, as the program gains greater understanding, more people are going to take advantage of it.

So in my submission, extrapolating from the number of calls made in 2011 is a dangerous and unreliable proposition.  To the extent you are looking at 2011, the more reliable number to look at, in my submission, is the actual dollars spent, and that is the 800,000 in the five-month period.

Now, what is a cross bore and what is the cross bore safety program?  In simple terms, a cross bore occurs when a natural gas line -- at least in Union's case -- a cross bore occurs when a natural gas line has been installed through a sewer line.

You may ask yourself how that could happen.  I certainly did myself.  But if you think about many of the homes, not just in Toronto but across the province, many of them are older.  They have clay pipes; they have other pipes that are of a particular diameter.  A gas line is small, and can very easily puncture a line such as a sewer line.

The evidence is, in Union's prefiled evidence, that a cross bore can occur as a result of trenchless technology that has been in use for over 30 years, and in many instances it can go undetected for years.  Just as tree roots puncture your clay pipe and you don't know about it and you don't have a sewer back-up for some time, the same can occur with a natural gas pipeline, and that's exactly what a cross bore is.

And you heard the evidence from Mr. Armstrong about why Union didn't think this was a particularly big deal, and in my submission, his evidence is entirely understandable, that when Union became aware of this, come to this, it didn't think it was a big deal, given the relative location of sewer lines relative to gas lines.

Now, what is the program designed to do?  The program is designed to identify and resolve what are potentially very, very dangerous situations and to minimize the risk of these occurrences happening in the future.

And again, you had Mr. Armstrong's evidence.  I mean, this is not something that happens every day.  Hopefully it's not something that happens with any degree of regularity.  But when it does happen, it has potentially very significant consequences, leading, you know, in the extreme, to death.  I mean, that's the simple reality of the matter.

In my submission, cross bore is a new issue for utilities, and in particular in Canada, as described in Union's evidence at Exhibit A, tab 1, pages 7 to 8.  Recently the Canadian Gas Association established a cross bore task force, which developed the white paper and a list of best practices on this issue.

Union responded to these developments with its own cross bore safety program, which were developed in late 2010 and through 2011.  And I'll come to this in a minute, but, in my submission, it is irrelevant whether or not Union's program was developed before or after the TSSA issued its order.

The fact is the TSSA has issued its order and Union has to comply with it.  And, indeed, I would say, even if the TSSA had not issued its order, it's only reasonable and prudent, being aware of the issue, that Union develop and maintain a program.

And for that reason, it was not surprising to hear Mr. Armstrong say, in response to a question from Board Staff, that Union intends to carry on this program whether or not Z-factor treatment is afforded, because it's the right thing to do, and, of course, there is a TSSA order.

Now, as I just mentioned, the order of the TSSA was issued on August 31, 2011, and that order, for the Board's reference, can be found at appendix G to Exhibit A, tab 1.

Now, as I described, there are a number of parties cross-examined in respect of Union's knowledge of the cross bore issue, and I would make four observations in respect of it.  In my submission, the facts on these four points are undisputed.

The first is that the CGA and its cross bore task team were not established until at least 2009 or thereafter; two, that the white paper was not published until after that time; three, the TSSA order, or even the advisory note that my friend Mr. Brett referred to, were not available at least until late 2010, and the order itself, we know, was issued in August 2011; and fourth -- and I think that this is the most compelling.  Fourth, there is no evidence at all of any Canadian utility who had a cross bore program prior to 2009.

And so despite the cross-examination about this being an issue that people knew or should have known about prior to 2009, the issue -- the evidence is nobody did and nobody had a program.

To the extent there were people in the US who knew about it at some point in the 2000s, they're (a) not the utilities in Canada, and (b) Union has provided an explanation for why it was not aware of it.

And I would say in respect -- and we'll talk about this a little bit more when we get to Z-factor.  The submission of my friends on this point is a little bit like saying, We think we have -- it's not a little bit like it, it's exactly like it -- we think this is a good program.  We think it is reasonable for you do this.  You're just not entitled to Z-factor treatment, because you should have known about it in 2007, and, therefore, if you -- what you should have done was include it in your cost of service hearing in 2007 to be included in base rates.

But, of course, we know Union didn't have a program in 2007, so the amount that would have been included was zero.  In my submission, you really can't have it both ways.

As described, the program has four main objectives.  They're listed on page 9, and I'll just refer you to them briefly.  The first is to develop processes and procedures to be used during new construction.  So that's prevention going forward.

Two, to manage the risk associated with legacy cross bores that may already exist with respect to the distribution system.

Three, to proactively investigate areas of natural gas distribution system that may have a higher risk, and you heard considerable evidence about that today.

And, four, to educate industry stakeholders, municipalities and the general public on the issue.

And what that is getting at is the awareness of the "call before you clear" concept.  I mean, the witnesses were clear on this point that people know about Ontario One Call, and they know that if they're putting in a fence or they're putting in a pool or they're digging up their front yard, that they need to call to make sure they do a utility line locate.

The question for this Board and the question that Union is having to wrestle with is:  How do we make people aware of calling before you try to block your sewer?  And as the Board members have probably experienced, sewer backups can occur, and ask yourself the question:  Did it occur to you to call Enbridge before calling your plumber, or to ask your plumber, Did you call Enbridge?"  And that's exactly the awareness issue that the utilities are wrestling with -- all of the utilities are wrestling with, in relation to the cross bore safety issue, is to get that message out.

It's not enough to call when you dig.  You need to call when you're clearing, as well.

The question that is really before the Board is whether Union's cross bore program qualifies for Z-factor treatment.  And in answering this question, in my submission, it is important to bear in mind the following, and I won't repeat them, but there are three:  First, that cross bore was not widely known or understand, at least in Canada, until recently, and I won't re-review the evidence; two, that cross bore is distinct from the locate work historically done by Union in excavation scenarios.  And that's really the distinction I was just drawing.

I mean, there is no question that Union has had a locate program for many years.  There is no question that Ontario One Call has been around for many years.  And, indeed, the evidence is that as recently as 2011, Union responded to 275,000 line locate requests.  There's no question that this work -- that that work has been going on for some period of time.

But in my submission, it is important to bear in mind, when you are deliberating, the distinction between that historic work and this work which, in my submission, is qualitatively different.

Third, there is, in my submission, no real question about the prudence of the program itself.  I don't believe any party suggested or will suggest, for that matter, that Union ought not to have a cross bore program.  And, indeed, given the TSSA order, that position would be untenable.

That brings me to the application of the Z-factor criteria, and the Z-factor criteria are laid out at Exhibit A, tab 1, page 12.

There are five criteria, and only five.  They are the product of an agreement between the parties approved by the Board.  And I make this observation because, in my submission, the cross-examination -- in a number of instances, the implication of the cross-examination is to add criteria to the list of five that were agreed to and approved by the Board.

For example, Mr. Thompson began his cross-examination by making an observation with respect to Union's earnings over the period of its IRM mechanism.  The only relevance of that is to suggest that Union, having overearned in some period of time, ought not to be allowed Z-factor treatment.

Of course that's not relevant.  If that were a relevant criteria, it would be laid out and would have been agreed to.  In any event, there's a mechanism for sharing overearnings in the settlement agreement, so I think the whole line of questioning is irrelevant.

And even more favourably, the cross-examination from Board Staff with respect to whether or not Union would continue with the program, in my submission, adds a criteria that is not amongst those that was approved by the Board.

In my submission, it's very important that the Board apply and analyze this through the five factors that were agreed to, because it will provide guidance the parties -- well, it will render a decision appropriately not just in respect of this, but will provide analysis for Union and other parties, who have a Z-factor and which has certain criteria, what the relevant requirements are.

So if I can just look at the application of those five criteria, it's laid out at pages 12 and 13.  First, the event must be causally related to an increase/decrease in costs.  And in my submission, that requirement is met.  The increased costs to develop and implement the cross bore safety program are a direct result of the industry issue, and they were not previously accounted for in rates.

So, in other words, there is no amount that is built into base rates that relates to the cross bore safety program, in my submission.

Two, the issue and the costs associated with the Union program were unexpected at the time of rebasing back in 2007, and are now required to comply with the TSSA director's order.  And just -- I touched on this earlier.  The cross-examination with respect to whether or not Union's program was developed before or after the TSSA program, my submission, that line of questioning and that analysis is irrelevant because the converse is not true.  It's not true, and there isn't any evidence that if Union had not developed a program, there would be no TSSA order.  In other words, we have a TSSA order and Union can't do anything about it; it has to comply.

Three, the cost of Union's program is not otherwise reflected in the price cap.  There's no question about that, I don't think.

Four, the cross bore program -- four asks whether the costs were or were not prudently incurred.  And you have the evidence that Union developed its program based on industry best practices, through its work on a task force in collaboration with Enbridge, Terasen and GazMét.  So what you have is evidence of a program that has been thought out and is consistent across utilities.  So in my submission, the conclusion is the program is prudent.

And five, the cost increase/decrease must meet the materiality threshold of 1.5 million annually per Z-factor event, i.e., the sum of all individual items underlying Z-factor event.

And as you will have heard at the outset, the costs forecast here do exceed the $1.5 million threshold.  And in my submission, it does not matter whether they exceed it by $1, $10, $300,000, or $5 million.  The threshold is the threshold, and in order for it to be meaningful for the parties in both directions, it has to apply at the level that was agreed upon and is approved by the Board.

So in my submission, Union's cross bore safety program meets the five requirements of a Z-factor.  It should be accorded Z-factor treatment, and consistent with the parties' agreement on this issue, the cross bore safety program deferral account should be established to track costs in 2012 for subsequent disposition in 2013.  And of course, it's no guarantee that recording of the amounts in the deferral account will guarantee recovery, just as the recording of any amount in a deferral account doesn't guarantee recovery.  So if it is ultimately shown that Union overspent on its cross bore safety program, obviously those costs would be denied and the disposition of the deferral account, ratepayers would receive the benefit of that variance, whatever it may be.

This brings me to the second issue, which is the establishment of a USGAAP transition account.  That issue is described at pages 18 and 19 of Exhibit A, tab 1 -- sorry, of Exhibit A, tab 1.

And I would also refer the Board, and I will be addressing interrogatories, a number of interrogatories, in particular B1.5 through B1.8, which were all interrogatories asked by Board Staff and which provide further information with respect to this issue.

In terms of its request, Union is seeking a deferral account to record as a debit the amount recognized in retained earnings associated with transitioning accounting standards and reporting under USGAAP for previously unrecorded pension expense.  And you will recall the evidence that it is anticipated that the amount that would ultimately be recorded and disposed of in the deferral account is in the neighbourhood of $7 to $7.3 million.

There was, in my submission, a relatively fair amount of cross-examination in respect of this issue, but ultimately the issue for this Board, I believe, in my submission, is straightforward.  The question is:  Should a deferral account be established?

And it is useful, in my submission, to begin by looking at attachment 4 of Exhibit B1.5, and in particular looking at page 1 of attachment 4, B1.5, page 1 of 5.

And it may be worth making -- just putting a sticky on this attachment, because I'll be back to it a couple of times.  But as described in that attachment, in September 2010, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board gave qualifying rate-regulated entities a one-year exemption or deferral from the adoption of IFRS, and time to consider the option to report under USGAAP.

For 2012, therefore, Union -- once the deferral was up -- Union had to report other than in Canadian GAAP.  And you will recall, Member Hare, the question you asked about management choice, and the evidence from Ms. Elliott, consistent with this attachment, was that by January 1, 2012 the only choice available to Union was to go with USGAAP or to go with modified IFRS.

And if I can just refer you to page, I believe it is, 78 of yesterday's transcript -- and I'll just read it -- what Ms. Elliott said in respect of the choice ultimately made by Union:

"I guess the initial 'outside of management's control' is there is no more Canadian GAAP for 2012.  Canadian GAAP is not an option, so we have to choose something.  And so the choice that management made was USGAAP.  The other choice was IFRS, and the IFRS choice results in a much greater impact and much more volatility than the USGAAP choice.  So while we have made a choice, the circumstances under which we had to make that choice were outside of our control.  We can't stay with Canadian GAAP.  It's not an option."

And the Board heard evidence with respect to the symmetry between Canadian GAAP and USGAAP, with respect to pension.  And the two items which have been identified and which would be recorded in the deferral account -- and the only two which have been identified -- relate to, one, measurement date, and two, the transition obligation of moving away from section 3461 of the CICA Handbook, which we'll come to in a minute.

Now, the choice of moving from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP, or the requirement, I suppose, more properly put, to move somewhere, has a consequence, but -- and it's important to bear in mind, because there was some confusion on this point in cross-examination -- as you will have heard, absolutely no impact whatsoever in rates in 2012.  None.  Zero.  And Union is not proposing to change the way -- or to change to USGAAP for ratemaking purposes in 2012.

And you will see that confirmed clearly at Exhibit B1.5, at page 3 of that interrogatory.  You needn't turn it up, but you will also have the evidence from Ms. Elliott on that point.

And obviously everybody is aware that Union has proposed to move to USGAAP for ratemaking purposes in 2013, and that's a decision for another Panel at another time.

Now, the principal consequence of moving to USGAAP arises as a result of the treatment of unamortized actuarial losses.  So if you still have open Exhibit B1.5, attachment 4, and you look at page 2, it's described under the heading "Costs recognized in net periodic cost."  And that's at the bottom left-hand side.

What was required back in January of 2000, under CICA 3461, was that an amount would be recognized and amortized over the expected average remaining service life, on the plan employees at that time, relating to unamortized actuarial losses at the time of transition.

So Union has unamortized actuarial losses as at the time CICA 3461 is implemented, and that amount - and it is set out in the schedule - 65 million, when you look at both pension and OPEB, is then amortized over a period equal to the average remaining service life of Union's six plans, and that's 17 years.

So, in the ordinary course, you would have amortization of an amount every year going down 17 years, and there was some cross-examination and you needn't get into the weeds on this, but it's not straight-line amortization.  It's declining balance, and it depends on how you look on each plan, but ultimately there's an amount that's amortized every year.

The amortization schedule, at least through 2010, if you were inclined to look at it, can be found at Exhibit B1.8, page 4 of 5.  And since 2000, ratepayers appropriately have paid for these costs in rates, whether through a rebasing proceeding or as reflected in incentive rates.

And you will recall the evidence that in 2007, when Union rebased, the amount of approximately $3.6 million was included in rates at that time, and that amount has been in rates since then.

The issue arises because, in the US, a similar process or similar standard as 3461 also became effective, with entities recognizing an amount to be amortized over time.  However, the standard there took hold in 1989.

USGAAP, the evidence is, requires that on transition to USGAAP, the entity report for this item as though it had always adopted the relevant US standard.

The consequence of that is the stub period that remains under 3461 of amortization from 2012 to 2007 goes away.  In other words, you move to USGAAP.  There's no longer any amortization, because from 1989, the 17-year period would already have expired.  So if you just think of it as two straight lines on a process chart overlapping, you have the remaining stub period, which would have to be written off and would result in a hit to retained earnings.  That's the simple issue.

And that, to the extent I've done it any injustice, there is an explanation for it in Exhibit B1.7.

Now, obviously this is a question for another Panel at another time, but ultimately it would be Union's submission that if the deferral account is not established and the amount were not cleared, it would be an inappropriate result, in that ratepayers would avoid the consequence of a prudently-incurred cost that they have been paying since 2000, as a result of a shift in accounting policy entirely unrelated to Union.

And if you think about what the proposal would be on disposition, there were really two that were put forward by Ms. Elliott.  One is you could have a clearance at one time, and $7 million could be cleared at one time; or, two, you could have clearance over time.  And it may be that parties argue at some future date that it should be cleared over time.

And you can well imagine an argument that it would be appropriate to clear it over time exactly in the same manner and in the same amounts as you were previously clearing under 3461, in which case there would be absolutely no effect whatsoever of the move to USGAAP, and it would be exactly the same outcome as would have obtained under 3461.

Ultimately, the question, as was identified at the outset by the Panel, is whether a deferral account should be established.  And the answer to that question, in my submission, is yes.  And I would again begin with the fact that Union has to move away from Canadian GAAP to another accounting standard.

The Board in its guidelines and addendum recognized the possibility of deferral account treatment to capture the impact of differences between US and Canadian GAAP.  In that case, obviously the Board was primarily dealing with a move from Canadian GAAP to IFRS.

But you will see, at page either 33 or 34 of the addendum, the Board recognizes the possibility, the option that may be preferable for a number of utilities - and, indeed, obviously preferable for Union - to move to USGAAP, and recognizes and directs that references to IFRS should be read equally as references to USGAAP.

And specifically at issue 5 on page 34 of the Board's addendum, there is recognition that deferral account treatment may be appropriate.

And most recently -- and I'll just ask that copies be provided to you.  Most recently, in EB-2011-0268, the Board had to consider an application from Hydro One Networks.  Now, this was in relation to its transmission rates, but the Board considered an application by Hydro One to adopt USGAAP and to establish a deferral account.

And if I could just ask --


MS. TAYLOR:  I'm sorry.  One moment.  The Panel is just wondering if this would be considered new evidence, is it not?

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, you can speak to that.  I'm just trying to understand your question.  You mean the evidence with respect to the Hydro One decision specifically?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And whether this decision is new evidence?

MS. TAYLOR:  Mm-hm.

MS. HARE:  Well, I don't recall it being discussed in this case.

MR. SMITH:  No, no.  It was never discussed.  There's no question it was never discussed in my submission previously, and I certainly agree with that.  However, it's certainly never been my experience that decisions of the Board, any more than decisions of a court in a court proceeding where you are referring to authorities, are matters of evidence.

They're simply authorities which are more or less persuasive, depending upon the similarity of the facts.  So that would be my submission in relation to the applicability of it.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  So just very briefly, the Board considered at page 12 the establishment of a deferral account.  And, indeed, the Board's findings in relation to the various USGAAP issues begin at page 10, and I would refer the Board to those paragraphs beginning at that page.

But just in the interest of time, and focussing, page 12, not the -- I guess the second -- the third and the second-last paragraph, beginning "The Board will also":
"The Board will also approve creation of a new deferral account entitled 'USGAAP Incremental Transition Costs', which can be used to track costs associated with the transition to USGAAP, but which shall not include any costs attributable to the heretofore planned transition from CGAAP to IFRS."


And then in the next paragraph:
"The Board also approves the establishment of an 'Impact for USGAAP Account', which will be a symmetrical variance account to record the 2012 impact of differences between CGAAP and USGAAP."


So the Board approved two accounts in that proceeding.  The first is an incremental transition cost account, and that account doesn't arise in this instance.  That's an account that relates to the costs of having to change your systems to allow you to report USGAAP.  No issue about that, because Union is not seeking any such account.

The second is the establishment of an impact for USGAAP account.  And, in my submission, the Board found it appropriate to grant such an account in the Hydro One proceeding, and, in my submission, the same result should obtain here, that it's appropriate that a transition account should be established here.

The evidence is that the costs are anticipated to be significant, in the order of over $7 million, with $10 million at the outset of 2012.  And in my submission, given the significant amount, Union meets the requirement for a deferral account as contemplated by the Board in its addendum.

Now, a number of parties suggested at the outset, and may suggest again, whether the Board should delay the establishment, I suppose, of a deferral account, or defer the matter to the Panel which is ultimately going to decide the issue of the appropriateness of whether Union should be allowed to adopt USGAAP for ratemaking purposes.

I won't say too much about it here, because I obviously don't have the benefit of my friends' submissions.  But in my submission, having heard the evidence and in particular having had the benefit of cross-examination live with respect to this issue -- which doesn't translate particularly well on paper, in my submission, if you're just reading it, at least for me -- it would be a shame if the matter were simply deferred.  In my submission, there isn't a particularly compelling argument for efficiency to put the matter off.  Nor is there a particularly good argument to put it off if the submission is made that this is a "nice to have" but not a necessary.

The evidence is that this is the best evidence that can be placed with Union's auditors to persuade them that that a regulatory asset exists.  In the face of that evidence, in my submission, there is no good reason to deny the deferral account treatment.  Yes, of course, it's possible to track things outside of a deferral account.  It's possible to track lots of things outside of a deferral account.  It's just math.

But Union should not be denied a deferral account because it's capable of keeping a separate ledger to record these things and may be able to persuade its auditor of the appropriateness, and will then have to deal with it at a later time in advance of the end of 2012, in through some other procedure, be it a change to a cost of service filing or an accounting order.

We're here today, we have a request for a deferral account, and we know that it's good evidence to satisfy the auditors and it's a significant amount of money.

In my submission, those are all good reasons why the Board should proceed to make a decision on its merits today.

And of course I recognize, Union recognizes, that that's without prejudice to the Board's position in the later proceeding, and it may be that the Board denies Union's request to move to USGAAP, in which case Union will have to come forward with an analysis of the costs of moving to IFRS and will have to take the decision, the analysis, and take an appropriate regulatory step.

But that, as well, is not a reason to deny the deferral account at this stage.

So subject to any questions in relation to the deferral account question, I would move on to the third issue, which is fortunately extremely brief, and that is the closure of account 179-72, which is the long-term peak storage services account, and whether or not that ought to be closed.

The evidence in relation to that issue is at Exhibit A, tab 1, page 20 of 20.

In very simple terms, in the NGEIR proceeding, EB-2005-0551, Union was directed to phase out the sharing on margins on Union's long-term storage transactions over a four-year period, beginning in 2008, so 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011.

That period has now expired, and therefore it is appropriate to close the account.  There was a motion to review and vary the NGEIR difficult; it was dismissed.  There was a petition to the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council.  It was dismissed.  The matter, in my submission, is closed, and there is no reason whatsoever to keep the account open.

It is the case that in Union's 2010 deferral account proceeding, CME and others asked for the establishment of a new and somewhat different deferral account.  That matter is reserved, under reserve, by the Board.  But it is not a reason to keep this, a different account, open, particularly given that Union has given an undertaking that the transactions Mr. Thompson's client is interested in have separately been recorded and are able to be recorded in the different deferral account if the Board were to make such an order, which obviously we have urged in other another proceeding it shouldn't make.

Finally, the issue of late payment penalty wording, and whether or not Union's proposed language is appropriate.  And let me observe at the outset that Union recognizes that the wording it is proposing is different than the wording many utilities use.  I don't think that there's any question about that.  I have a submission about it, the significance of that, but we don't quarrel with that fact.  But there is an expression "once burned, twice shy."

Union, Enbridge, Toronto Hydro, a number of other utilities, were the subject of class-action litigation in relation to their late-payment penalty.  It went up and down to the Supreme Court of Canada twice.

Having been down that road once before, it's not surprising that Union continues to look at the issue relating to the wording associated with the late payment penalty, as it's set out on its rate schedule and as it's set out on its bills.

As a legal matter, the requirement to disclose the interest rate is set out in section 4 of the Interest Act.  Section 4 of the Interest Act provides that where interest is calculated in respect of a period less than one year, then the yearly rate shall be shown.

The question that arises and which courts have had to consider is whether that means that the nominal or the effective annualized rate needs to be shown.

In my submission, the better view of the law is reflected in a case called Smith -- no relation -- and Canadian Tire, 1995, 26 Ontario Reports, 3D, 1995.  That's a decision of the Court of Appeal, and in simple terms, what the court held there was that it's not necessary for a lender to disclose the effective rate of interest here -- that would be the 19.56 -- recognizing that in that case and many other case, it is not possible to state in advance the effective rate of interest because this will depend upon a number of factors, most significantly, in this case, when payment is made.

And so the 19.56 figure may or may not be the correct amount, depending upon when any particular customer pays his or her bill.

So the question, in my submission, for the Board is, recognizing that the reference to 19.56 may be wrong, and it is not legally required to disclose that number, the question is:  Is it appropriate for Union to change its wording to remove that reference, bearing in mind the case law only requires a reference to the 1.5 per month, multiplied by 12 to get you to 18 percent, with a note, as Union has proposed, that that amount on a monthly basis will be compounded?

And in my submission, Union's in front of the game here, in that they're bringing this forward.  But it's the right thing to do, and the wording proposal should be accepted.  There are distinctions, as I said, to other utilities.

The Board had to deal with this issue somewhat in its decision in EB-2008-0106, which was the generic QRAM or standardized QRAM proceeding.  And there was an issue in that case about standardization of billing terminology, and what the Board observed at page 35 is that:

"The Board notes that while differences exist in the billing terminologies used by the two utilities..."

There, Union and Enbridge:
"... these differences are not significant to warrant another bill re-design.  First, the Board notes that there is no evidence that customers have attempted the comparison of one bill to another and have been frustrated in those attempts by the differences in terminology."

So in my submission, we're in the same position.  We don't have evidence that people are Union and Enbridge customers and they have done a comparison and are confused, or that they are -- to pick a utility in Union's franchise area, Chatham-Kent -- electric distribution company, and equally Union Gas customers and they're confused.

So, in my submission, the wording proposed by Union meets the statutory requirements and is a better solution.

Now, it's the case that there isn't evidence of growing customer confusion in respect of Union's bills, and the Board will have to weigh that.  We're not coming before you suggesting that we have received a mountain of customer complaints.  The Board will itself, from time to time, receive communications from customers, and, you know, to the extent the Board is governed by that, the Board is governed by that.

But it's certainly not our evidence that there are many customer complaints to Union.  Having said that, we believe this is an appropriate change to make.

And I would just make one final observation in respect of a question which was asked in relation to credit cards.  You'll be aware of the disclosure on credit cards which typically provides for an interest rate on a daily basis, and that would equally meet the Interest Act requirements under section 4.

The problem is the Board's orders, as they relate to late payment in Union's case - and I imagine cross all utilities - the orders are to provide for an interest rate of 1.5 percent.  So Union isn't at liberty to simply change to a daily interest rate, because it would be inconsistent with the Board orders authorizing it to charge the late payment penalty in the first instance.

I imagine that's the position many utilities find themselves in.

So subject to any questions in relation to the issues, those are Union's submissions-in-chief, and we are working diligently on undertakings and hope to have them tomorrow, I believe, but very, very soon.

MS. TAYLOR:  Do you have any questions?

MS. HARE:  I have what might be a silly question, getting back to the cross bore Z-factor.

So the deferral account is contingent on receiving approval of the Z-factor; correct?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  And then you mentioned that it would be symmetrical?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  What should happen in the event, for whatever reason, if at the end of 2012 the amount in the deferral account is 1.4 million, which means it would not have been a Z-factor?

MR. SMITH:  Well, in my submission, that would be to benefit of ratepayers, in that there would be some amount that would be -- well, let's put it this way, that that decision, that outcome, in my submission, does not affect the decision today.

It might suggest that at some -- you know, when the disposition comes about and it's ultimately cleared as $1.4 million, if you had perfect foresight at the time you were rendering this decision, then ultimately it may be that it wouldn't have attracted Z-factor treatment.

However, the Board will be well aware, when making all of its decisions, with respect to prudence, it shouldn't be using hindsight.  And, in my submission, that's -- you know, that's getting at that issue.  It may be down the road that the number is 1.4 million.  It may be that the number is 2 million.  But the evidence before the Board today is, on a forecast basis, that the number is going to be 1.825 million with a revenue requirement of $1.873 million.  And, in my submission, that's the evidence upon which the Board ought to make its decision.

This is why I always should read the full record before answering a question, but, as my client points out to me, in Exhibit B8.2, your question, Member Hare, was asked directly by the London Property Management Association, and the commitment given Union is that it will refund the full amount in rates.

So if it ultimately comes -- it's a good outcome.  If it ultimately comes to be that the amount is 1.4, then it would not have met the Z-factor treatment and the full amount should be rolled back.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  I did have one question about the application criteria that's set out in the settlement agreement.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  And, in particular, the first one, and it refers to an event that causes the related expenses.

And I think you've said that the event was not the TSSA directive.  It was simply the decision of management to pursue this program and develop the program.

Is that the type of event that's referenced in the settlement agreement, or can you be more specific of why exactly a decision of management in the normal course of utility operation qualifies as an event under a Z-factor?

MR. SMITH:  Well, this is why I made the submission about it's important that the Board appreciate the full scope of the evidence in relation to the TSSA order and why, in my submission, it's a bit irrelevant, or is irrelevant, whether or not Union's program was developed in advance of the TSSA order or not, because the fact is that there is an order and Union has to respond to the order.

The event itself is the recognition of this as an emerging issue that needs to be dealt with and the subsequent development of the TSSA order.  In my submission, it would be bad in principle, from a regulatory perspective, if utilities which are members of various committees like the CGA and have to respond to the TSSA -- if the utility were, in effect, punished for getting out ahead of the issuance of an order with the establishment of its program.

MS. TAYLOR:  So you're saying that -- and I'm going perhaps put words in your mouth.  So you had done something to initiate, so identified what you considered to be a new risk, in that it's different from damage to the system via excavation.  So you've identified a new type of safety risk.

You've initiated planning for that program, and, as you are planning for that program with a certain level of expenditures, the TSSA has come out, formalized the need for that program, and perhaps accelerated the expenditures that would be associated with it?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  And I would say that it's important to read in its entirety the requirement under number 1.  It is:
"The event must be causally related to an increase/decrease in costs."


I mean, here there's no question that the decision to develop the cross bore safety program, and indeed now a subsequent requirement to have the cross bore safety program, is causally related to an increase in costs.  I mean, Union has more costs now because they have developed this program, and there is no disconnect between those two.  There's direct linkage, in my submission.

So I think it's important to look at both, you know, the first part, the event, and the ultimate, What is it causally related to?

MS. TAYLOR:  I have no further questions on cross bore.

I did have one question related to the deferral account for USGAAP.  And it was somewhat unclear to me this morning, and perhaps now it's really unclear.  Union converted to USGAAP for reporting purposes as of Jan. 1 of this year.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  And has had to issue comparative or will have to issue comparable financial statements for 2011?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  You do not have, as of yet, a regulatory asset or the basis for creating a regulatory asset for your financial statements, as far as I understood it.

For 2012, you've got an amount that's going to amortize the 10 down to about 7.3, in any event.  I guess the long answer to the question is:  Have you, in effect, already notionally taken a charge against other comprehensive income to deal with the 7.3 or 10 million at the end of 2011?

MR. SMITH:  Well, subject to the client's comments, I don't believe Union's yet taken the charge.  I do recall Ms. Elliott's testimony in which she indicated that it would be preferable, from Union's perspective, to have a decision in respect of this issue confirming the establishment of a regulatory asset by the end of the first quarter of this year, and certainly before the end of this year.

So I would assume that for accounting purposes, it's necessary to have it this year, and certainly desirable to have it before the end of the first quarter.

MS. TAYLOR:  So that confirms my understanding.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  So notwithstanding the caveats that the Board puts on deferral accounts, about not being determinative about disposition or not saying that the amount that's in there is appropriate, what you're telling me is that notwithstanding all of the caveats that the Board says this is not a slam dunk for recovery, you're going to go and make that argument to the accountant and say that is sufficient to justify the creation of a regulatory asset; is that correct?

MR. SMITH:  That's -- as I understood Ms. Elliott's evidence -- whether or not Deloitte & Touche ultimately agrees.  I don't know.  She may be able to persuade them, she may not, but certainly her evidence was unequivocal on the point that a Board decision authorizing the creation of the deferral accounts is the best evidence, and Deloitte & Touche understands the usual caveats associated with deferral account recovery.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.  We have no further questions.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you for agreeing to hear me today.
Procedural Matters:

MS. TAYLOR:  I'm going to go through the schedule one more time for the record.  There has been a slight change since this morning.

Submissions by Board Staff and those of intervenors will now be due on Wednesday, January the 25th.  The additional response from Union, also as requested by the Applicant, has been moved to Wednesday, February the 1st.

And then any undertakings arising from this hearing today and yesterday that have not been otherwise answered, you've undertaken to provide those by?

MR. SMITH:  Well, my understanding is that we can get them for tomorrow.  Maybe we should give us a margin, a day leeway, just in case.  So why don't we commit to providing them by Thursday of this week?  Is that adequate?

MS. TAYLOR:  That's fine.  Thank you very much.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  And if there are no other issues, comments or questions, we are adjourned.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 3:34 p.m.
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